Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 25, 2022 REVISED: October 25, 2022 ACCEPTED: November 23, 2022 PUBLISHED: December 2, 2022

Bounds on right-handed neutrino parameters from observable leptogenesis

P. Hernández, J. López-Pavón, N. Rius and S. Sandner

Instituto de Física Corpuscular, Universidad de Valencia and CSIC, Edificio Institutos Investigación, Catedrático José Beltrán 2, 46980 Paterna, Spain E-mail: m.pilar.hernandez@uv.es, jlpavon@ific.uv.es, nuria.rius@ific.uv.es, stefan.sandner@ific.uv.es

ABSTRACT: We revisit the generation of a matter-antimatter asymmetry in the minimal extension of the Standard Model with two singlet heavy neutral leptons (HNL) that can explain neutrino masses. We derive an accurate analytical approximation to the solution of the complete linearized set of kinetic equations, which exposes the non-trivial parameter dependencies in the form of parameterization-independent CP invariants. The identification of various washout regimes relevant in different regions of parameter space sheds light on the relevance of the mass corrections in the interaction rates and clarifies the correlations of baryogenesis with other observables. In particular, by requiring that the measured baryon asymmetry is reproduced, we derive robust upper or lower bounds on the HNL mixings depending on their masses, and constraints on their flavour structure, as well as on the CP-violating phases of the PMNS mixing matrix, and the amplitude of neutrinoless double-beta decay. We also find certain correlations between low and high scale CP phases. Especially emphasizing the testable part of the parameter space we demonstrate that our findings are in very good agreement with numerical results. The methods developed in this work can help in exploring more complex scenarios.

KEYWORDS: Baryo-and Leptogenesis, Early Universe Particle Physics, Sterile or Heavy Neutrinos

ARXIV EPRINT: 2207.01651



Contents

1	Inti	roduction	1				
2	The	e model, Sakharov conditions and CP invariants	3				
	2.1	Sakharov conditions and regimes	4				
		2.1.1 Time scales and slow modes	4				
		2.1.2 Washout regimes	6				
	2.2	CP-violating flavour invariants and baryogenesis	8				
		2.2.1 LNC invariants	8				
		2.2.2 LNV invariants	9				
3	CP	invariants versus neutrino masses	10				
4	Bar	yon asymmetry: kinetic equations and analytical approximations	13				
	4.1	Kinetic equations	13				
		4.1.1 Interaction rates beyond the relativistic regime	15				
	4.2	Perturbation and adiabatic approximation	16				
		4.2.1 Thermalization rates	18				
		4.2.2 Projection method	20				
	4.3	Solutions	21				
		4.3.1 Overdamped regime	22				
		4.3.2 Intermediate regime	22				
		4.3.3 Fast oscillation regime	23				
	4.4	4.4 Relating to the baryon asymmetry					
5	Par	ameter constraints from the baryon asymmetry	26				
	5.1	Overdamped regime	26				
		5.1.1 wLNV regime	26				
	-	5.1.2 sLNV regime	29				
	5.2	Intermediate regime	29				
		5.2.1 Flavoured weak washout	30				
	- 0	5.2.2 Unflavoured weak LNV	31				
	5.3	Fast oscillation regime	31				
6	Nu	merical results: comparison with analytical approximations and p	a-				
	fan 61	Analytical results versus numerical solutions	30 30				
	0.1	Anarymear results versus numerical solutions	- J2				

6.2 Parameter scan of testable baryogenesis

34

7	Constraints on other observables from the baryon asymmetry		
	7.1 HNL flavour mixings	38	
	7.2 Neutrinoless double-beta decay	41	
	7.3 HNL mass splitting	42	
8	Conclusion	43	
\mathbf{A}	CP phases	44	
в	Mapping to the Casas-Ibarra parameterization	46	
\mathbf{C}	C Lepton number conserving limit		
D	Triangle plots	49	

1 Introduction

Extensions of the Standard Model that can explain the smallness of neutrino masses generically provide a mechanism to explain the matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe [1]. The most minimal of these realizations is arguably the minimal type-I seesaw model [2-5]. an extension with two Majorana singlet fermions that can couple to the SM via the fermion portal. The massive lepton sector includes light neutrinos, and additional heavy neutral leptons (HNLs) that can be searched for in meson, gauge boson and higgs decays. The possibility to explain the baryon asymmetry of the Universe (BAU) in this model has been studied extensively, and it has been shown to be a robust prediction in a wide range of masses of the heavy states, ranging from sub-GeV up to $\sim 10^{15}$ GeV. The lower limit is set by constraints from cosmology [6] and big bang nucleosynthesis (see [7] and refs. therein), while the upper limit is set by the requirement of perturbative Yukawa couplings. As dictated by the Sakharov conditions, a matter-antimatter asymmetry can be generated dynamically above the electroweak (EW) phase transition by effective B + L-violating sphaleron processes, combined with CP-odd asymmetries created in an out-of-thermal equilibrium process. The type of such process varies depending on the masses of the heavy Majorana singlets. While for heavy masses, the relevant process is out-of-equilibrium decay of these particles at freeze-out [1, 8, 9], in the case of lighter masses, the relevant process is heavy neutrino oscillations at freeze-in [10, 11]. It has been shown recently that there is a description that allows to treat both regimes and interpolates smoothly the region in between [12, 13]. A set of quantum Boltzmann equations need to be solved for some fixed input parameters of the model to obtain a quantitative prediction of the baryon asymmetry. The interaction rates involved in these processes have been computed to a high level of sophistication in [14].

An interesting question is to what extent this scenario can be tested. The answer depends strongly on the scale of the Majorana masses. If these masses are too large to be produced in particle or cosmic accelerators, one could hope to follow the traces left in the form of higher dimensional operators. The leading d=5 being the famous Weinberg operator [15] that generates light neutrino masses, and can be tested by searching for neutrinoless double-beta decay. Generically also $d \ge 6$ operators are expected [16, 17], leading potentially to very interesting signals in charged lepton processes, non-unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix, etc. [18–26].

A more interesting possibility is, however, that the masses are not so large and these neutrino mass mediators can be produced at colliders, or in rare processes, such as displaced meson decays. This possibility has been studied extensively in recent years and it has been shown that the parameter space that leads to successful baryogenesis can in fact be largely explored [27–41].

It is well known that there are strong correlations between baryogenesis and the properties of the HNLs (such as their masses and mixings to the various lepton flavours), neutrino masses and the amplitude of neutrinoless double-beta decay. In particular, upper and lower bounds on HNLs mixings for successful baryogenesis have been studied numerically in [13, 27, 30, 35, 39, 40]. The precise form of these correlations is, however, difficult to reveal from numerical studies. In this paper we address this question analytically, by developing a new perturbative scheme to solve the Boltzmann equations involved in the production of the baryon asymmetry, that takes into account mass effects in the interaction rates, and allows an accurate description of all the washout regimes. A very useful tool in this context is that of CP flavour invariants. This allows us to accurately rewrite the baryon asymmetry in terms of parameterization-independent CP invariants that can then be easily correlated to other flavour observables. This connection allows us to expose and understand these correlations, and predict the constraints on the baryon asymmetry that could be derived from putative future measurements of HNLs, CP violation in neutrino oscillations and neutrinoless double-beta decay, or alternatively to understand the bounds on HNL parameters from the baryon asymmetry. A similar analysis in the context of high-scale leptogenesis led to the celebrated Davidson-Ibarra bound [42].

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we introduce the model, set our notation and identify the various relevant regimes for the production of the baryon asymmetry and associate each of them to a parameterization-independent CP invariant. We then relate those CP invariants to neutrino masses and HNL parameters in section 3. In section 4 we review the Boltzmann equations needed in the computation of the baryon asymmetry, and develop a perturbative method to get an analytical approximate solution to the equations in the various regimes, recovering the expected dependence on the CP invariants. In section 5, we use the analytical results to derive bounds on the HNL parameters from the baryon asymmetry. In section 6 we present the comparison of the numerical solution to our analytical results and perform a numerical scan of the HNL mixing versus mass testable parameter space for successful baryogenesis. In section 7, we consider the correlation with other observables such as the flavour of the HNL mixings and neutrinoless double-beta decay. We conclude in section 8.

2 The model, Sakharov conditions and CP invariants

We consider the well-known type-I seesaw model, which includes the SM and $n \ge 2$ additional fermion singlets, N^i . The most general renormalizable Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{SM} - \sum_{\alpha,i} \bar{L}^{\alpha} Y^{\alpha i} \tilde{\Phi} N^{i} - \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \bar{N}^{ic} M_{Rij} N^{j} + h.c. ,$$

where Y is a $3 \times n$ complex matrix and M_R is a $n \times n$ complex symmetric matrix. L is the fermion doublet and $\tilde{\Phi} = i\sigma_2 \Phi^*$ is the Higgs doublet.

As long as $n \geq 2$ the model can explain the measured light neutrino masses and mixings, but contains n additional HNLs. In the limit $M_R \gg Y\langle \Phi \rangle$, the light neutrino masses are well approximated by the well-known seesaw formula:

$$-m_{\nu} = v^2 Y M_B^{-1} Y^T \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where $\langle \Phi \rangle = v$ and $\sqrt{2}v = 246 \text{ GeV}$, while the masses of the HNLs are the eigenvalues of the matrix M_R up to small corrections.

The HNLs interact with the gauge bosons and the higgs via the mixing:

$$\Theta \sim vYM_R^{-1} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\frac{m_\nu}{M_R}}\right) \,. \tag{2.2}$$

According to this naive scaling, for HNL masses at the electroweak scale, the mixings are very small and difficult to test.

It is well known [43–51] that for certain textures of Y and M_R , that are consistent with an exact lepton number (LN) symmetry, the naive scaling of eq. (2.2) breaks down. Neutrino masses in eq. (2.1) vanish exactly, while Θ is unsuppressed.

We will focus on the minimal n = 2 model for which the symmetric texture is of the form [51]

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} y_e \ 0\\ y_\mu \ 0\\ y_\tau \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_R = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ \Lambda\\ \Lambda \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.3)$$

corresponding to a lepton number assignment $L(N_1) = -L(N_2) = 1$. The exact lepton number symmetry ensures three massless neutrinos and degenerate HNLs. Note that the matrix $Y^{\dagger}Y$ has then a vanishing eigenvalue, which means that one combination of the sterile states does not couple to leptons.

Obviously, three neutrinos remain exactly massless in the symmetric limit, and beyond this limit they are proportional to the symmetry-breaking entries, y'_{α} and μ_i :

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} y_e e^{i\beta_e} & y'_e e^{i\beta'_e} \\ y_\mu e^{i\beta_\mu} & y'_\mu e^{i\beta'_\mu} \\ y_\tau e^{i\beta_\tau} & y'_\tau e^{i\beta'_\tau} \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_R = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1 & \Lambda \\ \Lambda & \mu_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.4)

Note that we use a parameterization where all the complex phases are included in Y. In appendix A, we will show explicitly that this is the case and, remarkably, that we can also consider $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ in all generality.

The breaking of the symmetry induced by the different terms is the same: $\Delta L(\mu_1) = \Delta L(\mu_2) = \Delta L(y'_{\alpha}) = 2$, and therefore it is natural to assume no large hierarchy between these parameters, in particular $|y'_{\alpha}/y_{\beta}|$ and μ_i/Λ . On the other hand, while the parameters y'_{α} and μ_2 contribute to neutrino masses at tree level as:

$$-(m_{\nu})_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{v^2}{\Lambda} \left(Y_{\alpha 1} Y_{\beta 2} + Y_{\alpha 2} Y_{\beta 1} - Y_{\alpha 1} Y_{\beta 1} \frac{\mu_2}{\Lambda} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\mu_i^3}{\Lambda^3}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\mu_1 y_{\alpha}'^2}{\Lambda}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\mu_i^2 y_{\alpha}'}{\Lambda^2}\right) \right),$$
(2.5)

the leading μ_1 contribution only shows up at 1-loop. For this reason, μ_1 can be larger than μ_2 without spoiling light neutrino masses. However, the same parameter can induce a large mass splitting between the HNLs and this is not a favourable regime for low scale leptogenesis. For this reason, we will assume that all symmetry breaking parameters are small compared to the symmetric ones. In particular, we would like to remark that in this symmetry protected scenario, $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ can be considered in all generality, as shown in appendix A.

In this paper, we will compute analytically the baryon asymmetry generated in this model by perturbing around the symmetric limit, that is via a series expansion in the small symmetry breaking parameters.

2.1 Sakharov conditions and regimes

The necessary Sakharov conditions for the production of the baryon asymmetry are satisfied in this model in the following way. New sources of CP violation appear in the couplings Y and M_R . Baryon number violation is ensured by sphaleron processes active above the electroweak phase transition [52], i.e. $T \ge T_{\rm EW} = 131.7 \,\text{GeV}$ [53]. The out-of-equilibrium condition requires that some of the species are not in thermal equilibrium. In the low mass regime, the asymmetry is generated during the production of the heavy states, N_i , i.e. before they reach full thermal equilibrium. The production of the state N_i , occurs via direct production from inverse decays, $L_{\alpha}H \leftrightarrow N_i$, or various $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering processes, with strength $Y_{\alpha i}$. The different mass eigenstates are produced coherently in a state of flavour α , $N_{\alpha} \propto \sum_i Y_{\alpha i} N_i$. CP asymmetries arise then from the interference of CP violating phases in Y, M_R and the CP conserving oscillation phases $N_{\alpha} \leftrightarrow N_{\beta}$ [10].

2.1.1 Time scales and slow modes

In an expanding universe, the efficiency of plasma interactions in thermalizing the states involved depends on whether the interaction rates are larger or smaller than the Hubble expansion rate, $H_u(T)$, which in the range of temperatures of our interest is dominated by radiation and given by

$$H_u(T) = \frac{T^2}{M_P^*},$$
 (2.6)

with

$$M_P^* \equiv \sqrt{\frac{45}{4\pi^3 g_*(T)}} M_{\text{Planck}} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

We assume the number of thermal relativistic degrees of freedom at temperature T to be $g_*(T) = 106.75$ throughout the evolution, that is, we neglect the HNLs contribution.

The baryon asymmetry is exponentially suppressed if all the relevant processes involved in its generation are fast compared with the Hubble expansion rate. So, as first noted by Sakharov, the rates for some of these processes must remain below $H_u(T)$. We can distinguish various regimes depending on what modes satisfy this condition at the electroweak phase transition, $T_{\rm EW}$.

A first relevant scale in the problem is the one related to the vacuum oscillation rate, which is not a thermalization rate, but it is the scale at which CP asymmetries build up:

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T) \propto \frac{M_2^2 - M_1^2}{T} \,, \tag{2.8}$$

where M_i are the mass eigenvalues of the heavy states above the EW phase transition.

Secondly, we have the scattering, decay or inverse decay rates. At temperatures such that $T \gg M_i$, the HNLs can be assumed relativistic in the corresponding processes. In this case the interaction rate with flavour α is given by:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}(T) \propto \epsilon_{\alpha} \Gamma(T), \ \Gamma \propto \text{Tr}[YY^{\dagger}]T, \ \epsilon_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{(YY^{\dagger})_{\alpha\alpha}}{\text{Tr}[YY^{\dagger}]}.$$
 (2.9)

A flavour hierarchy in the Yukawa couplings can result in a hierarchy in the corresponding interaction rates.

There are, however, slow modes that do not thermalize with this rate, owing to the approximate zero mode of $Y^{\dagger}Y$, related to the approximate LN symmetry. The thermalization rate of this mode involves oscillations and is of the form

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}^{\rm slow} \propto P_{\rm osc} \Gamma \le \Gamma \,, \tag{2.10}$$

where $P_{\rm osc}$ can be thought of as an oscillation probability which is $P_{\rm osc} \to 1$ when $\Gamma_{\rm osc} \gg \Gamma$, while $P_{\rm osc} \to 0$ when $\Gamma_{\rm osc} \ll \Gamma$ (oscillations are damped). Note that this rate may be suppressed even in strong washout, i.e. when $\Gamma \gg H_u$, as long as the mass difference, $|M_2 - M_1|$, is sufficiently small.

When M_i/T corrections are included in the rates, there is an additional slow mode, related to LN. The corresponding slow rate is (we assume $M \leq T_{EW}$):

$$\Gamma_M^{\text{slow}} \propto \left(\frac{M_i}{T}\right)^2 \Gamma \le \Gamma.$$
 (2.11)

When both slow rates become large compared to H_u , and no significantly flavour effects are present, full thermalization is achieved. If this happens before $T_{\rm EW}$, the baryon asymmetry is exponentially suppressed.

A large fraction of the parameter space of the model, compatible with the light neutrino masses, satisfies

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T_{\rm EW}), \Gamma(T_{\rm EW}) \ge H_u(T_{\rm EW}).$$
(2.12)

This regime is also the most interesting one, as regards testability prospects, since it corresponds to large mixing of the HNLs. In particular most of the accessible parameter space for future experiments corresponds to the strong washout regime $\Gamma(T_{\rm EW}) \gg H_u(T_{\rm EW})$.



Figure 1. Boundaries of washout regimes and regions described in the text on the plane $|U|^2$ versus M for two choices of $\Delta M/M$.

2.1.2 Washout regimes

Different regimes can be identified depending on the relative strength of the rates that remain below H_u at T_{EW} . In figure 1 we show the different regimes on the plane mixing of the HNL, $U^2 \equiv \sum_{\alpha} |\Theta_{\alpha 1}|^2 \simeq \sum_{\alpha} |\Theta_{\alpha 2}|^2$, versus their mass, $M_1 \simeq M_2$, with light neutrino masses properly accounted for (see section 3), and for two fixed values of the degeneracy $|M_2 - M_1|/M_1$.

• Weak washout

Defined by the condition

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}(T_{EW}) < \Gamma(T_{EW}) < H_u(T_{EW}).$$
(2.13)

The thermalization rates of all modes are slow compared to the Hubble rate, so an asymmetry can survive at $T_{\rm EW}$. The condition of eq. (2.13) can be translated on the plane $|U^2|$ versus M_i , leading to an *upper bound* on the mixing, as shown in figure 1. Unfortunately, this regime is beyond reach of future experiments such as FCC [54–56] and could be reached only in the lowest mass region at SHiP [57, 58], where constraints from BBN are significant. An analytical approximate solution for the baryon asymmetry in this regime was first studied in [11], and including the connection to neutrino masses and other observable parameters in [31–33].

• Flavoured weak washout

When there is a hierarchy in ϵ_{α} , eq. (2.9), we might have

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}(T_{\rm EW}) < H_u(T_{\rm EW}) < \Gamma(T_{\rm EW}), \qquad (2.14)$$

for some $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$. The flavour α remains the reservoir of the baryon asymmetry. In figure 1, we show the band corresponding to eq. (2.14). This regime reaches up to two order magnitude larger couplings than in the weak washout.

When $\Gamma_{\alpha}(T_{\rm EW}) \geq H_u(T_{\rm EW})$ for all α , the asymmetry can only survive if any of the slow modes, in eqs. (2.10) and/or (2.11), remain in weak washout. Depending on which one of them does we can distinguish two additional regimes:

• Overdamped regime

When

$$\epsilon \equiv \frac{\Gamma_{\rm osc}}{\Gamma} \ll 1 \,, \tag{2.15}$$

oscillations are damped by the faster interactions in the plasma and

$$P_{\rm osc} \propto \epsilon^2$$
. (2.16)

As a result the slow thermalization rate of eq. (2.10) is suppressed as

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}^{\rm slow} = \epsilon^2 \Gamma \,. \tag{2.17}$$

In strong washout, $\Gamma \gg H_u$, the overdamped regime is defined by the condition

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}^{\rm slow}(T_{\rm EW}) < H_u(T_{\rm EW}), \qquad (2.18)$$

which implies a *lower limit* on the mixing, as is shown in figure 1.

• Weak lepton number violating (wLNV) regime

When M/T terms are not negligible but still

$$\Gamma_M^{\text{slow}}(T_{\text{EW}}) < H_u(T_{\text{EW}}), \qquad (2.19)$$

the asymmetry can survive even when all other rates are larger than H_u . This condition implies an upper limit in the mixing, although significantly less restrictive for small masses than the flavoured weak washout, as shown in figure 1. It is important to stress that this regime is not relevant if M/T corrections are neglected: there is effectively an exact lepton number symmetry in this case and no asymmetry is generated in the slow mode direction.

In the unshaded regions of figure 1 the Sakharov conditions are not fulfilled at $T_{\rm EW}$, and therefore the asymmetry is exponentially suppressed. Only exponential fine-tunning could reproduce the baryon asymmetry.

Within the shaded regions the generation of the asymmetry is most important at $T_{\rm osc}$ defined as:

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T_{\rm osc}) = H_u(T_{\rm osc}), \qquad (2.20)$$

that is when the oscillation rate is the same as the Hubble expansion rate. As we will see the asymmetry generated depends on the relative strength of $\Gamma_{\rm osc}$ and Γ at this temperature. The dashed line on the figure 1 separates two regions:

• Intermediate region (above dashed line)

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T_{\rm osc}) \ll \Gamma(T_{\rm osc})$$
. (2.21)

• Fast oscillation region (below dashed line):

$$\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T_{\rm osc}) \gg \Gamma(T_{\rm osc}).$$
 (2.22)

Analytical approximations for the baryon asymmetry in the fast oscillation region in the limit of $\Gamma_M \to 0$ have been previously derived in [31, 33, 36, 59], while for the overdamped regime semi-analytical solutions in the same limit have been presented in [36].

2.2 CP-violating flavour invariants and baryogenesis

CP violation is a subtle effect related to the presence of physical complex couplings that generically involve many flavour parameters. The so-called CP flavour invariants [60-67] are flavour-basis-independent quantities that incorporate the involved parameter dependencies that make the complex couplings physical. All CP violating observables such as the baryon asymmetry must be proportional to a combination of such CP flavour invariants. Our goal is to obtain these relations, that will then provide a strong crosscheck of the analytical approximations to the baryon asymmetry derived in section 4, which are expected to be proportional to such invariants. Further, this can allow to derive robust connections to other observables.

CP flavour invariants are constructed out of the flavour parameters in the model, i.e. the physical parameters in the matrices Y and M_R , as well as the charged lepton Yukawa matrix, Y_l . If the observable in question can be obtained as a series expansion in these matrices, the relevant CP flavour invariants are polynomials in the matrices, which are invariant under flavour basis transformations and have an imaginary part. An exhaustive list of invariants in this model has been found using the Hilbert series in [65–67]. Note that the baryon asymmetry is not expected to be proportional to any of those basic invariants, since the dependence on M or Y need not be polynomial, and the thermal plasma provides a reference that distinguishes the charged lepton flavour. However they do contain the building blocks from which the flavoured or unflavoured invariants that appear in leptogenesis can be obtained.

In order to construct the relevant CP invariants to our problem, let us first consider how Y, Y_l and M_R are transformed under a change of flavour basis that leaves the kinetic and gauge interactions invariant:

$$Y \to V^{\dagger} Y W, \quad Y_l \to V^{\dagger} Y_l U, \quad M_R \to W^T M_R W,$$

$$(2.23)$$

where U, V, and W are respectively generic three or two-dimensional unitary matrices,

Taking this into account, we can consider the following hermitian combinations

$$h = Y^{\dagger}Y \to W^{\dagger}hW, \ \overline{h} = Y^{\dagger}Y_{l}Y_{l}^{\dagger}Y \to W^{\dagger}\overline{h}W, \ H_{M} = M_{R}^{\dagger}M_{R} \to W^{\dagger}H_{M}W.$$
(2.24)

Combinations that involve M_R only via the hermitian matrix H_M are not sensitive to the Majorana character.¹ They are relevant for the lepton number conserving (LNC) case, i.e. when M_i/T effects in the rates are neglected.

2.2.1 LNC invariants

The simplest invariant built up out of Y, Y_l and M, which does not vanish when the Majorana character is irrelevant, is given by [65]

$$I_0 = \operatorname{Im}\left(\operatorname{Tr}\left[h H_M \overline{h}\right]\right) \,. \tag{2.25}$$

¹If we consider M_R a spurion that enforces rephasing invariance of the Majorana fields, M_R picks a phase under this transformation while H_M remains invariant.

In the basis in which Y_l and M_R are diagonal, with eigenvalues $y_{l_{\alpha}}$ and M_i respectively, the above quantity can be written as

$$I_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha} y_{l_{\alpha}}^{2} \sum_{i,j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2} \right) \operatorname{Im} \left[Y_{\alpha j}^{*} Y_{\alpha i} \left(Y^{\dagger} Y \right)_{ij} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha} y_{l_{\alpha}}^{2} \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2} \right) \operatorname{Im} \left[Y_{\alpha j}^{*} Y_{\alpha i} \left(Y^{\dagger} Y \right)_{ij} \right] \equiv \sum_{\alpha} y_{l_{\alpha}}^{2} \Delta_{\alpha} .$$

$$(2.26)$$

Note that

$$\sum_{\alpha} \Delta_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Im} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left[h \, H_M h \, \right] \right) = 0 \,, \qquad (2.27)$$

because the matrix in the trace is hermitian and therefore its trace is real.

At the temperatures we are interested in, the plasma can distinguish the charged lepton flavours. The lepton CP asymmetry generated in the neutral lepton sector in flavour α is proportional to the basic quantity Δ_{α} , and the net lepton asymmetry is given by a weighted combination of Δ_{α} , with different weights in different regimes.

Overdamped regime. Since $\Delta_{\alpha} \propto \Delta M \sim \Gamma_{\text{osc}}$, and the coherent oscillation is cut off by Γ_{α}^{-1} we expect

$$\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm ov} \propto \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\Delta_{\alpha}}{\Gamma_{\alpha}}.$$
(2.28)

Including an extra invariant normalization to match the analytical result in section 4.3, the full flavour-dependence of the asymmetry in this regime will be proportional to:

$$\Delta_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{ov}} = \frac{1}{\left[\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)\right]^{2}} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{\left(YY^{\dagger}\right)_{\alpha\alpha}} \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2}\right) \text{Im}\left[Y_{\alpha j}^{*}Y_{\alpha i}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)_{ij}\right].$$
 (2.29)

Flavoured weak washout. There must be a weakly coupled flavour, α , for the asymmetry to survive. In the *intermediate region*, eq. (2.21), the net asymmetry is simply the one obtained in flavour α :

$$\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\alpha)} = \Delta_{\alpha} \,. \tag{2.30}$$

In the fast oscillation region, eq. (2.22), the invariant that controls the production of asymmetry is not simply proportional to $\Gamma_{\rm osc}$ since this rate is large. A more general dependence on the masses is expected, but in any case it should be of the form

$$\Delta_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{osc}\,(\alpha)} = \sum_{i < j} g(M_i, M_j) \text{Im} \left[Y_{\alpha j}^* Y_{\alpha i} \left(Y^{\dagger} Y \right)_{ij} \right], \qquad (2.31)$$

where $g(M_i, M_j)$ is an antisymmetric function of the two arguments. The precise form of this function will be fixed after matching to the analytical solution.

2.2.2 LNV invariants

When M/T corrections to the rates cannot be neglected, additional invariants become relevant, that are sensitive to the Majorana character of the HNLs.

The simplest non-vanishing invariant of this type is given by [63, 65]

$$I_{1} = \operatorname{Im} \left\{ \operatorname{Tr} \left[h H_{M} M^{*} h^{*} M \right] \right\} = \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2} \right) M_{i} M_{j} \operatorname{Im} \left[(h_{ij})^{2} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2} \right) M_{i} M_{j} \operatorname{Im} \left[Y_{\alpha j} Y_{\alpha i}^{*} \left(Y^{\dagger} Y \right)_{ij} \right] \equiv \sum_{\alpha} \Delta_{\alpha}^{M}.$$
(2.32)

Note that it does not involve the charged lepton Yukawa.

Overdamped regime. The asymmetry in the overdamped regime is expected to be proportional to the full invariant up to a normalization:

$$\Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{ov}} = \frac{1}{\left[\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)\right]^{2}} \sum_{\alpha} \Delta_{\alpha}^{M}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\left[\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)\right]^{2}} \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2}\right) M_{i} M_{j} \text{Im}\left[Y_{\alpha j} Y_{\alpha i}^{*}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)_{ij}\right].$$

$$(2.33)$$

Again, the extra normalization factor is introduced to match the analytical result to be shown in section 4.3.

Flavoured weak washout. The asymmetry is that obtained in flavour α and the expected invariant is thus given by:

$$\Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{int}(\alpha)} = \frac{\Delta_{\alpha}^{M}}{\left[\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)\right]^{2}} = \frac{1}{\left[\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)\right]^{2}} \sum_{i < j} \left(M_{j}^{2} - M_{i}^{2}\right) M_{i} M_{j} \text{Im}\left[Y_{\alpha j} Y_{\alpha i}^{*}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)_{ij}\right], \quad (2.34)$$

for the *intermediate regime*, where we introduce the same normalization factor as in the previous case, eq. (2.33).

In the *fast oscillation region* we expect:

$$\Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{osc}} = \frac{1}{\text{Tr}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)} \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{i < j} \text{Im}\left[Y_{\alpha j} Y_{\alpha i}^{*}\left(Y^{\dagger}Y\right)_{ij}\right] g_{M}(M_{i}, M_{j}), \qquad (2.35)$$

where the antisymmetric function $g_M(M_i, M_j)$ will be determined after matching to the analytical solution.

3 CP invariants versus neutrino masses

Let us first show the expressions for the CP invariants presented in the previous section considering the parameterization given in eq. (2.4), and expanding in the small symmetry

breaking parameters y'_{β} and μ_2 .

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm ov}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = -2\sum_{\alpha} \frac{y_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}' \sin \Delta \beta_{\alpha}}{y^2} \left(\frac{1}{y_{\alpha}^2} - \frac{3}{y^2}\right), \qquad (3.1)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\alpha)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\ (\alpha)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\beta \neq \alpha} \left(y_\alpha^2 y_\beta y_\beta' \sin \Delta \beta_\beta - y_\alpha y_\alpha' y_\beta^2 \sin \Delta \beta_\alpha \right) , \quad (3.2)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm ov}}{M_1 M_2 (M_2^2 - M_1^2)} = \frac{1}{y^2} \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm osc}}{g_M (M_1, M_2)} = -\frac{\sum_{\alpha} y_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}' \sin \Delta \beta_{\alpha}}{y^2} , \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm int(\alpha)}}{M_1 M_2 (M_2^2 - M_1^2)} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{y_\alpha y'_\alpha \sin \Delta \beta_\alpha}{y^2} + \frac{y_\alpha^2}{y^2} \frac{\sum_\beta y_\beta y'_\beta \sin \Delta \beta_\beta}{y^2} \right), \tag{3.4}$$

where $y^2 = \sum_{\alpha} |Y_{\alpha 1}|^2 = \sum_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}^2$. The CP phases appear in the combinations $\Delta \beta_{\alpha} = \beta'_{\alpha} - \beta_{\alpha}$. This is expected since in the minimal model with two HNLs there are only three physical phases: the Majorana and Dirac phases included in the PMNS matrix and another phase associated to the HNL sector. Recall that in the symmetric limit $(y'_{\alpha} = \mu_2 = 0)$ there is no CP violation (see also appendix A).

On the other hand, the CP invariants can be related to the physical neutrino masses and other observable HNL parameters. Using eq. (2.5), the light neutrino mass constraint reads

$$-(m_{\nu})_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{v^2}{\Lambda} \left(Y_{\alpha 1} Y_{\beta 2} + Y_{\alpha 2} Y_{\beta 1} - Y_{\alpha 1} Y_{\beta 1} \frac{\mu_2}{\Lambda} \right) = \left(U^* m \, U^{\dagger} \right)_{\alpha\beta} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where $U = U(\theta_{12}, \theta_{13}, \theta_{23}, \delta, \phi)$ is the PMNS matrix² describing the light neutrino mixing observed in neutrino oscillation experiments, and *m* is the diagonal matrix of the light neutrino masses. The Yukawa couplings can then be written as a function of the PMNS and neutrino mass parameters [51]. The expressions differ in the normal and inverted hierarchy case.

Normal Hierarchy (NH). The Yukawas satisfy

$$Y_{\alpha 1} = \frac{e^{-i\theta/2}y}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 3}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} + U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) , \qquad (3.6)$$
$$Y_{\alpha 2} = \frac{e^{i\theta/2}y'}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 3}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} - U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) + \frac{\Delta M}{4M} \frac{e^{-i\theta/2}y}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 3}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} + U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) ,$$

where y is a real free parameter and³

$$\rho = \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} - \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}}{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}}, \quad y' = \frac{M}{2v^2 y} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}\right).$$
(3.7)

Note that besides the phases in the PMNS matrix, there is an additional phase, θ , associated to the HNL sector, that will play a major role in the baryon asymmetry.

²We use the parameterization of the PDG [68].

³In this parameterization $m_3 < 0$ ($m_2 < 0$) for NH (IH) [51]. This negative sign can be reabsorbed with a redefinition of the Majorana phase included in the PMNS matrix U.

Inverted Hierarchy (IH). In this case, we have

$$Y_{\alpha 1} = \frac{e^{-i\theta/2}y}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} + U_{\alpha 1}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) , \qquad (3.8)$$
$$Y_{\alpha 2} = \frac{e^{i\theta/2}y'}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} - U_{\alpha 1}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) + \frac{\Delta M}{4M} \frac{e^{-i\theta/2}y}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\alpha 2}^* \sqrt{1+\rho} + U_{\alpha 1}^* \sqrt{1-\rho} \right) ,$$

where again y is real and arbitrary while

$$\rho = \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} - \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 - \Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}}{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 - \Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}},$$

$$y' = \frac{M}{2v^2 y} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 - \Delta m_{\rm sol}^2} \right).$$
(3.9)

The parameters of the right handed neutrino Majorana mass matrix are related to the physical HNL masses as (recall that we assume $\mu_2 = \mu_1$)

$$\mu_2 = \frac{M_2 - M_1}{2} \equiv \frac{\Delta M}{2}, \quad \Lambda = \frac{M_2 + M_1}{2} \equiv M.$$
(3.10)

Note that y essentially gives the magnitude of the $|Y_{\alpha 1}|$ Yukawa couplings, while y' and $\Delta M/M$ sets the scale of $|Y_{\alpha 2}|$.

The HNL flavour mixing is given by

$$\Theta^* = Y v M_R^{-1} W^*, \tag{3.11}$$

where W is the unitary matrix which diagonalizes M_R , see eq. (A.12). In particular, we obtain

$$U^{2} \equiv \sum_{\alpha} |\Theta_{\alpha I}|^{2} = \frac{y^{2}v^{2}}{2M^{2}} \left[1 \pm \frac{3\Delta M}{4M} \mp 2\rho\cos\theta \frac{y'}{y} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{y'^{2}}{y^{2}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{(\Delta M)^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) \right]$$
$$\approx \frac{y^{2}v^{2}}{2M^{2}}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where the upper (lower) sign corresponds to the first (second) heavy mass eigenstate.

Using the above expressions, we can rewrite the CP invariants of eqs. (2.29), (2.30), (2.31), (2.33), (2.34) and (2.35) as a function of the physical parameters. In order to illustrate the main dependencies, we will expand over y'/y, $\Delta M/M$ and the small light neutrino parameters

$$r \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}}{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}} \sim \theta_{13} \sim |\theta_{23} - \pi/4| \sim 10^{-1} \,. \tag{3.13}$$

At leading order in the expansion parameters we obtain the following simple expressions:

Normal Hierarchy.

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm ov}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} \approx -\frac{v^2 \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{8M^3 U^4} s_\theta \,, \tag{3.14}$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(e)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(e)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx U^2 M^3 \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{v^4} \, r \, s_{12}^2 s_\theta \,, \tag{3.15}$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\mu)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(\mu)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx \frac{U^2 M^3}{2} \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{v^4} \sqrt{r} \, c_{12} \sin(\theta - \phi) \,, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\tau)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(\tau)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx -\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\mu)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2},\tag{3.17}$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm ov}}{M_1 M_2 (M_2^2 - M_1^2)} = \frac{v^2}{2U^2 M^2} \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm osc}}{g_M (M_1, M_2)} \approx -\frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{4MU^2} s_{\theta} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

Inverted Hierarchy.

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm ov}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} \approx \frac{v^2 \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{8M^3 U^4} \frac{(1 + 3c_\phi \sin 2\theta_{12}) \left(c_\theta s_\phi \sin 2\theta_{12} + s_\theta \cos 2\theta_{12}\right)}{-1 + c_\phi^2 \sin^2 2\theta_{12}}, \quad (3.19)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(e)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(e)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx \frac{U^2 M^3}{2} \frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{v^4} (\sin 2\theta_{12} s_\phi \, c_\theta + \cos 2\theta_{12} \, s_\theta) \,, \quad (3.20)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\mu)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(\mu)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(\tau)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} = \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm osc\,(\tau)}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \approx -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNC}^{\rm int(e)}}{M_2^2 - M_1^2} \,, \qquad (3.21)$$

$$\frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm ov}}{M_1 M_2 (M_2^2 - M_1^2)} = \frac{v^2}{2U^2 M^2} \frac{\Delta_{\rm LNV}^{\rm osc}}{g_M (M_1, M_2)} \approx -\frac{\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2}}{8MU^2} r^2 s_\theta \,. \tag{3.22}$$

All the CP invariants depend on the "high scale" phase θ and, remarkably, $\Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{osc}}$ and $\Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{ov}}$ only depend on this phase. Indeed, it can be easily checked that this is a general result, satisfied to all orders in the expansion. All the other invariants are also functions of the PMNS CP phases ϕ (Majorana) and δ (Dirac). Even if this dependence can be subleading (as it is always the case for δ due to the suppression in θ_{13}), the corrections may be relevant for values of the parameters that suppress the leading order.

Our results can be mapped to the Casas-Ibarra parameterization following the prescription given in appendix B.

4 Baryon asymmetry: kinetic equations and analytical approximations

4.1 Kinetic equations

The quantum kinetic equations that describe the generation of the baryon asymmetry have been studied in detail before (see for instance [14] for the complete derivation of the kinetic equations). We use the same equations as derived in [33], but adding the LNV

corrections to the rates that have been computed in [14]. We have checked that they are equivalent to those in [14], but neglecting the hypercharge chemical potential, which is a small effect. We consider only the momentum-averaged approximation, which reproduces the full momentum computation up to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ effects in the BAU [69, 70].

We work in the basis where $M = \text{diag}(M_1, M_2)$, with $M_2 > M_1 > 0$. We define the normalized heavy neutrino density matrices for the two helicities:

$$r_N = \frac{\rho_N}{\rho_F}, \quad r_{\bar{N}} = \frac{\rho_{\bar{N}}}{\rho_F}, \tag{4.1}$$

where $\rho_F(z) = (\exp z + 1)^{-1}$ with z = k/T is the Fermi-Dirac distribution. The evolution of these matrices as a function of the scale factor $x = a = T^{-1}$ is dictated by the equations:

$$\begin{aligned} xH_{u}\frac{\mathrm{d}r_{N}}{\mathrm{d}x} &= -i[\langle H \rangle, r_{N}] - \frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} \{Y^{\dagger}Y, r_{N} - 1\} - x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} \{MY^{T}Y^{*}M, r_{N} - 1\} \\ &+ \langle \gamma_{N}^{(1)} \rangle Y^{\dagger}\mu Y - x^{2} \langle s_{N}^{(1)} \rangle MY^{T}\mu Y^{*}M \\ &- \frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \{Y^{\dagger}\mu Y, r_{N}\} + x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \{MY^{T}\mu Y^{*}M, r_{N}\}, \\ xH_{u}\frac{\mathrm{d}r_{\bar{N}}}{\mathrm{d}x} &= -i[\langle H^{*} \rangle, r_{\bar{N}}] - \frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} \{Y^{T}Y^{*}, r_{\bar{N}} - 1\} - x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} \{MY^{\dagger}YM, r_{\bar{N}} - 1\} \\ &- \langle \gamma_{N}^{(1)} \rangle Y^{T}\mu Y^{*} + x^{2} \langle s_{N}^{(1)} \rangle MY^{\dagger}\mu YM \\ &+ \frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \{Y^{T}\mu Y^{*}, r_{\bar{N}}\} - x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \{MY^{\dagger}\mu YM, r_{\bar{N}}\}, \\ xH_{u}\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}}{\mathrm{d}x} &= \frac{\int_{k} \rho_{F}}{\int_{k} \rho_{F}'} \left[\frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} (Yr_{N}Y^{\dagger} - Y^{*}r_{\bar{N}}Y^{T}) - x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(0)} \rangle}{2} (Y^{*}Mr_{N}MY^{T} - YMr_{\bar{N}}MY^{\dagger}) \\ &- \mu_{\alpha} (\langle \gamma_{N}^{(1)} \rangle YY^{\dagger} + x^{2} \langle s_{N}^{(1)} \rangle YM^{2}Y^{\dagger}) + \frac{\langle \gamma_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \mu_{\alpha} (Yr_{N}Y^{\dagger} + Y^{*}r_{\bar{N}}Y^{T}) \\ &+ x^{2} \frac{\langle s_{N}^{(2)} \rangle}{2} \mu_{\alpha} (YMr_{\bar{N}}MY^{\dagger} + Y^{*}Mr_{N}MY^{T}) \right]_{\alpha\alpha}, \end{aligned}$$
(4.2)

where $H_u(T)$ is the Hubble parameter of eq. (2.6) and $\rho'_F = d\rho_F/dz$. In these equations, the matrix $\mu \equiv \text{diag}(\mu_{\alpha})$ and μ_{α} is the lepton chemical potential in flavour α . $\mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}$ is related to the approximately conserved charge densities as:

$$n_{B/3-L_{\alpha}} \equiv -2\mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}} \int_{k} \rho'_{F} = \frac{1}{6}\mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}} T^{3} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

The relation between the two is

$$\mu_{\alpha} = -\sum_{\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \mu_{B/3-L_{\beta}} , \qquad (4.4)$$

where the matrix C is given by [41]

$$C = -\frac{1}{711} \begin{pmatrix} 257 & 20 & 20\\ 20 & 257 & 20\\ 20 & 20 & 257 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.5)

n	$\langle \gamma_N^{(n)}(T) \rangle / T$	$\langle s_N^{(n)}(T) \rangle / T$
0	0.0091	0.0434
1	0.0051	0.0086
2	-0.0022	-0.0165

Table 1. Coefficients in the momentum averaged rates at $T = 10^6$ GeV.

The Hamiltonian term is given by 4

$$H \equiv \frac{M^2}{2k_0} + V_N(k), \quad V_N(k) \equiv \frac{T^2}{8k_0} Y^{\dagger} Y.$$
(4.6)

The LNC rates including $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ and $2 \leftrightarrow 2$ processes have been expanded to linear order in the leptonic chemical potential:

$$\gamma_N(k,\mu_\alpha) \simeq \gamma_N^{(0)} + \gamma_N^{(2)}\mu_\alpha \,, \tag{4.7}$$

while

$$\gamma_N^{(1)} \equiv \gamma_N^{(2)} - \frac{\rho_F'}{\rho_F} \gamma_N^{(0)} \,. \tag{4.8}$$

The s_N rates are expanded analogously. All the rates are momentum averaged:

$$\langle (\ldots) \rangle \equiv \frac{\int_{z} (\ldots) \rho_{F}(z)}{\int_{z} \rho_{F}(z)} \,. \tag{4.9}$$

Lastly, we define the factor

$$\frac{\int_k \rho_F}{\int_k \rho'_F} = -\frac{9\xi(3)}{\pi^2} \equiv -\kappa \,. \tag{4.10}$$

In table 1 we show the results for $\langle \gamma_N^{(n)} \rangle / T$ and $\langle s_N^{(n)} \rangle / T$ for $T = 10^6$ GeV.⁵ Their dependence with the temperature is shown in figure 2. At large temperatures both quantities go to a constant. When approaching the electroweak phase transition the LNV rates grow very significantly.

Note that in the above equations the terms proportional to $\langle \gamma_N^{(2)} \rangle$ and $\langle s_N^{(2)} \rangle$ are nonlinear. The equations are evolved from some small initial time, $x_{\text{ini}} \sim 0$, where r_N and $r_{\bar{N}}$ as well as the $\mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}$ vanish, up to the electroweak phase transition x_{EW} .⁶

4.1.1 Interaction rates beyond the relativistic regime

The relativistic approximation has been used in deriving the interaction rates of the HNL with the plasma in the kinetic equations. This is a good approximation when $M/T \ll 1$, but in the regime $M/T_{\rm EW} \lesssim 1$, which can be tested at FCC, non-relativistic corrections

 $^{^{4}}$ We neglect mass effects in the thermal mass [39], since we have checked that in the parameter space considered they are negligible. They can become relevant for smaller mass splittings that those considered.

 $^{^{5}}$ Averaging over the Boltzmann distribution instead gives results that vary at the % level.

 $^{^{6}}$ The effects associated to a non-zero initial abundance of HNLs has been studied in [71].



Figure 2. Temperature dependence of the ratios $\langle \gamma_N^{(n)} \rangle / T$ and $\langle s_N^{(n)} \rangle / T$. A dashed line indicates a negative contribution of a partial rate.

become important. In the absence of a full calculation of these corrections, we adopt an educated guess:⁷ the LNC rates are modified as

$$\gamma_N \to \frac{\mathcal{E} + k}{2\mathcal{E}} \gamma_N \,,$$

$$\tag{4.11}$$

while the LNV ones as

$$s_N \frac{M^2}{T^2} \to 2 \frac{k^2}{T^2} \frac{\mathcal{E} - k}{\mathcal{E}} s_N \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Here k is the momentum and $\mathcal{E} = \sqrt{M^2 + k^2}$ is the particle energy.

The momentum and temperature dependent rates are taken from ref. [14], and we average the new rates over the Fermi-Dirac distribution as indicated in eq. (4.9), but including the non-relativistic corrections. Note that for the LNV rates we include explicitly the mass dependence, which means that the mass matrix is factorized by a common mass $M \simeq M_1 \simeq M_2$. Hence, in the terms involving the LNV rates in the kinetic equations the mass matrix M has to be replaced by the unit matrix. The effects of the mass correction in the LNC case is at most of order percent but in the LNV case it can lead to $\mathcal{O}(1-10)$ suppressions. We show in figure 3 the effect of the non-relativistic corrections on the rate for a mass of M = 100 GeV which will be the upper bound of our numerical search, and roughly the upper bound for direct searches at FCC.

4.2 Perturbation and adiabatic approximation

In order to obtain an analytical approximation to these equations, we simplify them neglecting the non-linear terms, and also simplifying the matrix C to take a diagonal form, $C \rightarrow \text{diag}(-1/2, -1/2, -1/2).$

Defining the 11-dimensional vector

$$r(x) \equiv \left([r_N]_{11}, [r_N]_{22}, \operatorname{Re}([r_N]_{12}), \operatorname{Im}([r_N]_{12}), [r_{\bar{N}}]_{11}, [r_{\bar{N}}]_{22}, \operatorname{Re}([r_{\bar{N}}]_{12}), \operatorname{Im}([r_{\bar{N}}]_{12}), \\ \mu_{B/3-L_e}, \mu_{B/3-L_{\mu}}, \mu_{B/3-L_{\tau}} \right),$$

$$(4.13)$$

⁷We thank M. Laine for this suggestion.



Figure 3. Effective interactions rates entering the kinetic equation including (excluding) nonrelativistic corrections in bold (dashed). The effect in the LNC case (left) is negligible whereas in the LNV case (right) the effective rate contribution can change by $\mathcal{O}(1-10)$. We omit the γ^1 and s^1 rates as they can be derived from the shown results via eq. (4.8).

we can write the linearized differential equations in the compact form

$$\frac{dr(x)}{dx} = A(x)r(x) + h(x).$$
(4.14)

The goal is to find an analytical solution to these equations perturbing around the symmetric textures for Y and M in eq. (2.3), and in the M/T corrections in the rates. Hence, we can write

$$A(x) = A^{(0)}(x) + A^{(1)}(x) + \mathcal{O}(y'_{\alpha}, (xM)^2)^2,$$

$$h(x) = h^{(0)}(x) + h^{(1)}(x) + \mathcal{O}(y'_{\alpha}, (xM)^2)^2.$$
(4.15)

The leading order $r^{(0)}(x)$ solution satisfies:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r^{(0)}(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} = A^{(0)}(x)r^{(0)}(x) + h^{(0)}(x).$$
(4.16)

This equation is still hard to solve analytically, because $A^{(0)}(x)$ cannot be diagonalized by an *x*-independent change of basis. However, an adiabatic approximation can be employed when there is a large hierarchy between Γ_{osc} and Γ independently of which is larger.

At fixed x, we can diagonalize the matrix $A^{(0)}$:

$$A^{(0)}(x) = V(x)\lambda(x)V(x)^{-1}, \qquad (4.17)$$

where V(x) is the matrix of the eigenvectors in columns and λ is the diagonal matrix containing the corresponding eigenvalues. If we neglect the x-variation of V(x), the solution is the adiabatic approximation:

$$r_a(x) = V(x)e^{\Lambda(x)} \int_0^x e^{-\Lambda(z)} V^{-1}(z)h^{(0)}(z) dz, \qquad (4.18)$$

with

$$\Lambda(x) \equiv \int_0^x \lambda(z) \mathrm{d}z \,. \tag{4.19}$$

This solution satisfies the equation:

$$\dot{r}_a(x) = (A^{(0)}(x) + \dot{V}(x)V^{-1}(x))r_a(x) + h^{(0)}(x).$$
(4.20)

In the overdamped regime, $\dot{V}V^{-1}$ can be expanded in ϵ , eq. (2.15), and is found to be $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. Therefore we can include it as a perturbation up to corrections of higher order in ϵ . Adding the correction:

$$\delta r_a(x) = -V(x)e^{\Lambda(x)} \int_0^x e^{-\Lambda(z)} V^{-1}(z)\dot{V}(z)V(z)^{-1}r_a(z)dz, \qquad (4.21)$$

it is easy to show that the solution of eq. (4.16) is

$$r^{(0)}(x) = r_a(x) + \delta r_a(x), \qquad (4.22)$$

up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$.

In the fast oscillation regime, $\Gamma_{\rm osc} \gg \Gamma$, we can instead expand in ϵ^{-1} and we find $\dot{V}V^{-1} = \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{-1})$, so the adiabatic solution can be obtained as in eqs. (4.22) and (4.26), up to corrections $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{-2})$.

We can now include the first order perturbation, $A^{(1)}$ and $h^{(1)}$, in the small parameters. The first order correction satisfies the equation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r^{(1)}(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} = A^{(0)}(x)r^{(1)}(x) + A^{(1)}r^{(0)}(x) + h^{(1)}(x), \qquad (4.23)$$

which again can be solved in the adiabatic approximation. Defining

$$\tilde{r}_a(x) \equiv V(x)e^{\Lambda(x)} \int_0^x e^{-\Lambda(z)} V(z)^{-1} \left[A^{(1)}(z)r^{(0)}(z) + h^{(1)}(z) \right] \mathrm{d}z \,, \tag{4.24}$$

and

$$\delta \tilde{r}_a \equiv -V(x)e^{\Lambda(x)} \int_0^x e^{-\Lambda(z)} V(z)^{-1} \dot{V}(z) V(z)^{-1} \tilde{r}_a(z) \mathrm{d}z \,, \tag{4.25}$$

the first order correction to the solution is

$$r^{(1)}(x) = \tilde{r}_a(x) + \delta \tilde{r}_a(x) , \qquad (4.26)$$

up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$.

In the LNV case, we need to perturb simultaneously in $\mathcal{O}(y'_{\alpha})$ and $\mathcal{O}(M/T)^2$ corrections. In this case, it is necessary to go to second order. The corresponding expressions are straightforward.

4.2.1 Thermalization rates

The thermalization rates are related to the real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix A. All the eigenvalues of the matrix A(x) have negative real parts. The solution at $x \to \infty$ can then be shown to be the thermal equilibrium one: r = (1, 1, 0, 0, 1, 1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0), a limit which is approached exponentially.

The approach to the asymptotic limit is controlled by the eigenvalues of $A^{(0)}$ in the adiabatic approximation. More precisely

$$\propto e^{-\Lambda_i(x)} \equiv \exp\left(-\int_0^x \mathrm{d}z |\mathrm{Re}(\lambda_i(z))|\right),$$
(4.27)

with λ_i the eigenvalues of $A^{(0)}$.

We normalize x such that at $T = T_{\rm EW}$ we have $x_{\rm EW} = 1$, and define the dimensionless combinations

$$\Delta \equiv \frac{c_H}{2} \frac{|M_2^2 - M_1^2|M_P^*}{T_{\rm EW}^3}, \ \gamma_i \equiv \frac{\langle \gamma^{(i)} \rangle}{T} \frac{M_P^*}{T_{\rm EW}}, \ s_i \equiv \frac{\langle s^{(i)} \rangle}{T} \frac{M_P^*}{T_{\rm EW}}, \ \omega \equiv \frac{c_H}{8} \frac{M_P^*}{T_{\rm EW}},$$
(4.28)

with

$$c_H \equiv \frac{\pi^2}{18\zeta(3)} \,. \tag{4.29}$$

The largest real part corresponds to the strong rate, that we can identify with Γ :

$$\Lambda_{\max}(x) = \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \,\operatorname{Max}(|\operatorname{Re}(\lambda(z))|) = \frac{1}{2}y^2\gamma_0 x \equiv \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \,\frac{\Gamma}{zH_u}\,.$$
(4.30)

Similarly, we can identify the slow rates described in section 2 with those associated to the eigenvalues of $A^{(0)}$ with the smallest real parts. In order for the corresponding mode not to thermalize before the EW transition it is necessary that

$$\Lambda_i(x_{\rm EW}) \le 1. \tag{4.31}$$

In the overdamped regime, we find modes that are suppressed by ϵ :

$$\operatorname{Min}(|\operatorname{Re}(\lambda(x))|) = \epsilon^2 \frac{\gamma_0^3 y^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2}, \quad \epsilon(x) = \frac{x^2 \Delta}{y^2 \gamma_0}, \quad (4.32)$$

therefore

$$\Lambda_{\rm ov}(x) = \frac{x^5 \Delta^2}{5y^2} \frac{\gamma_0}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \equiv \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \; \frac{\Gamma_{\rm osc}^{\rm slow}}{zH_u} \,. \tag{4.33}$$

The boundary of the overdamped region is defined by

$$\Lambda_{\rm ov}(x_{\rm EW}) = 1. \tag{4.34}$$

In the flavoured weak washout region, a slow mode remains in flavour α provided there is a hierarchy in the yukawas $y_{\alpha}/y \ll 1$. The slow rate of the flavoured weak washout regime is identified from the corresponding eigenvalue

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}(x) \simeq \frac{1}{2} y_{\alpha}^2 \kappa \gamma_1 x \equiv \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \frac{\Gamma_{\alpha}(z)}{z H_u(z)} \,. \tag{4.35}$$

The boundary of the weak flavour washout region is therefore

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}(x_{\rm EW}) = 1. \tag{4.36}$$

On the other hand, one of the eigenvalues of $A^{(0)}$ is always zero. This mode is associated with LN. It remains decoupled in the LNC limit (when $M/T \to 0$ in the rates), but it is weakly coupled when M/T terms are included. This mode is different in the overdamped regime or outside. In the overdamped regime we find

$$\Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm ov}(x) = \frac{1}{3} \frac{M^2}{T_{\rm EW}^2} x^3 s_0 y^2 \equiv \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \frac{\Gamma_M^{\rm slow}(z)}{z H_u} \,, \tag{4.37}$$

while in the intermediate or fast oscillations we find

$$\Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm int}(x) = \frac{1}{3} \frac{M^2}{T_{\rm EW}^2} x^3 \frac{\gamma_1 s_0 + \gamma_0 s_1}{3\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \kappa} \kappa y^2 \,. \tag{4.38}$$

The boundary of the wLNV region is defined by the condition

$$\Lambda_M(x_{\rm EW}) = 1, \qquad (4.39)$$

and, as shown in figure 1, it is slighly different in the overdamped or intermediate regimes.

Finally the oscillation rate, which controls the generation of the asymmetry, is related instead to the CP conserving phases corresponding to $Im(\lambda_i)$

$$\propto e^{-i\Lambda_{\rm osc}(x)} \equiv e^{-i\int_0^x dz |\operatorname{Im}(\lambda_i(z))|} \,. \tag{4.40}$$

It is found to be

$$\Lambda_{\rm osc}(x) = \frac{x^3}{3} \Delta \equiv \int_0^x dz \; \frac{\Gamma_{\rm osc}}{zH_u} \,. \tag{4.41}$$

The oscillation rate and the Hubble expansion are equal at x_{osc} , which is defined therefore by the condition

$$\Lambda_{\rm osc}(x_{\rm osc}) = 1. \tag{4.42}$$

4.2.2 Projection method

In the intermediate regime, the asymmetry is basically built up at early times, when the evolution is in the overdamped regime, but it exits this regime before $x_{\rm EW}$. In this case, the adiabatic solution is not valid at the crossover between regimes. On the other hand, in these cases a quasi-stationary solution is found. A good approximation can be obtained from the solution in the overdamped regime evolved up to some threshold, $x_{\rm th}$ and then projecting it on the slow mode(s) direction(s).

Let us denote by $v_i(w_i)$ the right (left) eigenvectors of A. They satisfy the orthonormality relation $w_i^{\dagger}v_j = \delta_{ij}$. Let us assume that at some time x_{th} a strong washout regime is reached with all modes strongly coupled with the plasma except one, with associated right (left) eigenvector $v_0(w_0)$ and corresponding to an approximate zero mode. Let us assume, as will be the case later, that these eigenvectors do not depend on x, and $w_0^{\dagger} \cdot h = 0$, then:

$$w_0^{\dagger} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}r(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} = \frac{\mathrm{d}w_0^{\dagger} \cdot r(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} \simeq 0.$$
(4.43)

Writing r(x) in the basis of right eigenvectors:

$$r(x) = \sum_{i} a_i(x)v_i$$
, (4.44)



Figure 4. Chart summarizing the analytical solution in each washout regime. The interaction rates and the Hubble expansion rate need to be evaluated at $T_{\rm EW}$.

and substituting in eq. (4.43) implies that $a_0(x)$ is constant. Since all the other directions should have achieved thermalization, the large time quasi-stationary solution is therefore

$$r(x) \simeq \left(w_0^{\dagger} \cdot r(x_{\rm th}) \right) v_0 \,. \tag{4.45}$$

This result assumes $\Lambda_0(x) \simeq 0$. At later times, this might not be a good approximation. The time evolution in this case is well described by

$$r(x) \simeq \left(w_0^{\dagger} \cdot r(x_{\rm th})\right) v_0 \ e^{-(\Lambda_0(x) - \Lambda_0(x_{\rm th}))} , \qquad (4.46)$$

so that when $\Lambda_0(x) \gg 1$, the asymmetry is exponentially suppressed.

In some cases, we have two weakly coupled modes, with eigenvectors, w_0, w_1 . In this case, a good approximation is

$$r(x) \simeq \left(w_0^{\dagger} \cdot r(x_{\rm th})\right) v_0 e^{-(\Lambda_0(x) - \Lambda_0(x_{\rm th}))} + \left(w_1^{\dagger} \cdot r(x_{\rm th})\right) v_1 e^{-(\Lambda_1(x) - \Lambda_1(x_{\rm th}))}.$$
(4.47)

4.3 Solutions

We are interested in the strong washout regime $\Lambda_{\max}(x_{\rm EW}) \gg 1$ since most of the SHiP and FCC accessible regions are in this regime. Simultaneously, at least one mode must remain weakly coupled at $x_{\rm EW}$. The different alternatives and the corresponding analytical solutions are summarized in the flow chart 4. All analytical results are expressed in terms of the CP invariants as derived in section 3. In terms of the parameters of eq. (2.4) they are given in eqs. (3.1)–(3.4). Their relation to physical observable quantities is given in eqs. (3.14)–(3.18) (eqs. (3.19)–(3.22)) for NH (IH).

4.3.1 Overdamped regime

The overdamped regime is defined by the condition

$$\Lambda_{\rm ov}(x_{\rm EW}) \le 1\,,\tag{4.48}$$

where Λ_{ov} is defined in eq. (4.33). This condition can be satisfied in the region of interest for sufficiently small $\Delta M/M$, as shown in figure 1.

There are LNC and LNV contributions to the asymmetry. The former is $\mathcal{O}(y'_{\alpha})$ and can be obtained from the adiabatic solution in eq. (4.22) and eq. (4.26), which is a good approximation at all times. When M/T terms are included in the rates, there are additional $\mathcal{O}(y'_{\alpha}(M/T)^2)$ contributions to the asymmetry. These LNV contribuions depend on whether the rate $\Lambda_M(x_{\rm EW})$ is smaller or larger than one. The former case ($\Lambda_M(x_{\rm EW}) < 1$) corresponds to the weak LNV regime (wLNV), while the latter ($\Lambda_M(x_{\rm EW}) > 1$) is the strong LNV regime (sLNV). Let us denote by $x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov}$ as the time at which $\Lambda_M(x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov}) = 1$. Using eq. (4.37), we find

$$x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov} = \left(\frac{3T_{\rm EW}^2}{M^2 s_0 y^2}\right)^{1/3}.$$
(4.49)

Within the wLNV regime, i.e. $x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov} \ge 1$, we get

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{ov-wLNV}} \simeq -\frac{4\kappa\Delta x^2}{6\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{y_{\alpha}y_{\alpha}'\sin\Delta\beta_{\alpha}}{y^2} \left(\frac{1}{y_{\alpha}^2} - \frac{3}{y^2}\right) + \frac{48}{5} \frac{\kappa s_0 \Delta x^5}{6\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \frac{M^2}{T_{\text{EW}}^2} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{y_{\alpha}y_{\alpha}'\sin\Delta\beta_{\alpha}}{y^2} , \quad (4.50)$$

that can be written in terms of the CP invariants

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\mathrm{ov-wLNV}} \simeq \frac{\kappa x^2}{6\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \frac{c_H M_P^*}{T_{EW}^3} \left(\Delta_{\mathrm{LNC}}^{\mathrm{ov}} - \frac{24}{5} \frac{s_0 x^3}{T_{EW}^2} \Delta_{\mathrm{LNV}}^{\mathrm{ov}}\right) . \quad (4.51)$$

When $x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov} \leq 1$, the asymmetry stops growing at $x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov}$ and a quasi-stationary solution is found, as long as $\Lambda_{\rm ov}(x) \leq 1$. The asymmetry can be obtained by the projection method, that is projecting the wLNV solution at $x_{\rm M}^{\rm ov}$ on the slow mode direction. The result is

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\mathrm{ov}-\mathrm{sLNV}} \simeq -\frac{24}{5} \frac{\kappa s_0^2 (x_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{ov}})^5}{6\gamma_0 s_0 + \kappa\gamma_0 s_1 + \kappa\gamma_1 s_0} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \frac{c_H M_P^*}{T_{EW}^5} \Delta_{\mathrm{LNV}}^{\mathrm{ov}} \,. \tag{4.52}$$

Note that only the LNV invariant appears in the sLNV regime: the LNC contributions do not generate any asymmetry in the direction of the slow mode in this regime as it is connected to LN.

4.3.2 Intermediate regime

In the intermediate regime, $\epsilon(x_{\text{osc}}) \ll 1$, but at some point, x_0 , before the EW phase transition, the slow oscillation modes thermalize roughly when $\Lambda_{\text{ov}}(x_0) = 1$, which according to eq. (4.33) corresponds to

$$x_0 = \left(5\frac{(\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2)y^2}{\gamma_0\Delta^2}\right)^{1/5}.$$
(4.53)

A good approximation for the asymmetry in this case is obtained by evolving the overdamped solution until x_0 and approximating the asymmetry by projecting on the slow mode(s). The latter can be that of the flavoured weak regime, i.e. flavour direction α , and/or the slow mode in the weak LNV regime. The latter enters strong washout at $x_{\rm M}^{\rm int}$, defined by $\Lambda_M(x_{\rm M}^{\rm int}) = 1$ (see eq. (4.38)):

$$x_{\rm M}^{\rm int} = \left(3\frac{T_{\rm EW}^2}{M^2}\frac{3\gamma_0 + \gamma_1\kappa}{\kappa y^2(\gamma_1 s_0 + \gamma_0 s_1)}\right)^{1/3}.$$
(4.54)

In the parameter range of interest we always have $x_0 \ll x_{\rm M}^{\rm int}$.

Flavoured weak washout. A good approximation is obtained from the overdamped solution evolved up to $x = x_0$ and projected on the two slow modes. In the relevant part of the parameter space, the LNV slow mode might get strong before $x_{\rm EW}$, so we need to include the time evolution of this contribution according to eq. (4.47), such that

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{fw-int}} \simeq \frac{2}{3} \frac{x_0^3 \Delta}{y^4} \left(\frac{2\kappa\gamma_0}{2\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} e^{-\delta\Lambda_M^{\text{int}}(x)} - \kappa\right) \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \\ \times \sum_{\beta \neq \alpha} y_\beta^2 y_\alpha y_\alpha' \sin \Delta\beta_\alpha - y_\alpha^2 y_\beta y_\beta' \sin \Delta\beta_\beta , \qquad (4.55)$$

where $\delta \Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm int}(x) \equiv \Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm int}(x) - \Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm int}(x_0)$, with $\Lambda_{\rm M}^{\rm int}$ given by eq. (4.38). In terms of the CP invariants this can be expressed as

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{fw-int}} \simeq -\frac{2}{3} \frac{x_0^3}{y^4} \left(\frac{2\kappa\gamma_0}{2\gamma_0+\kappa\gamma_1} e^{-\delta\Lambda_M^{\text{int}}(x)} - \kappa\right) \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2+4\omega^2} \frac{c_H M_P^*}{T_{EW}^3} \Delta_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{int}(\alpha)}.$$
(4.56)

The LNV contribution in this regime is very small and has been neglected for simplicity.

Unflavoured wLNV. When the only slow mode is the LNV one we get instead

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{wLNV-int}} \simeq \frac{24}{5} \kappa \frac{s_0 \Delta x_0^5}{3\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \frac{M^2}{T_{\text{EW}}^2} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{y_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}' \sin \Delta \beta_{\alpha}}{y^2} = -24 \frac{\kappa s_0 \gamma_0}{3\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{1}{T_{\text{EW}}^2} \Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{osc}}.$$
(4.57)

Note that there is no contribution from the LNC invariants. This is because the LNC contribution projected on the LNV slow-mode direction vanishes.

4.3.3 Fast oscillation regime

Contrary to the intermediate regime, the fast oscillation regime is characterized by $\epsilon(x_{\rm osc}) \gg 1$. Again we can have two weakly coupled modes at $T_{\rm EW}$, which are the same as discussed for the intermediate regime.

Flavoured weak washout. With the adiabatic approximation we find

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{fw-osc}} \simeq -\left(\gamma_{0}^{2}\kappa - \frac{2\gamma_{0}^{3}\kappa}{2\gamma_{0} + \gamma_{1}\kappa}e^{-\delta\Lambda_{M}^{\text{int}}(x)}\right) \text{Im}\left(J_{200}(\Delta, -\Delta, x_{0})\right) \\ \times \sum_{\beta \neq \alpha} y_{\alpha}y_{\alpha}' \sin \Delta\beta_{\alpha}y_{\beta}^{2} - y_{\alpha}^{2}y_{\beta}y_{\beta}' \sin \Delta\beta_{\beta} \\ = \left(\gamma_{0}^{2}\kappa - \frac{2\gamma_{0}^{3}\kappa}{2\gamma_{0} + \gamma_{1}\kappa}e^{-\delta\Lambda_{M}^{\text{int}}(x)}\right) \Delta_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{osc}(\alpha)}, \qquad (4.58)$$

which is valid once the system only possess one flavoured weak mode α , i.e. $\Lambda_{\alpha} < 1$ and $\Lambda_{\beta} > 1$ for the other flavoures β . The mass function entering the CP invariant is found to be $g(M_1, M_2) = \text{Im}(J_{200}(\Delta, -\Delta, x_0))$, which is defined by

$$J_{2nm}(\Delta, -\Delta, x) \equiv \int_0^x du \ u^n \ e^{i\frac{\Delta u^3}{3}} \int_0^u dz \ z^m \ e^{-i\frac{\Delta z^3}{3}} .$$
(4.59)

The asymptotic solution of the integral is

$$\operatorname{Im} J_{200}(\Delta, -\Delta, \infty) = -\frac{2^{4/3}}{3^{1/3}} \frac{\pi^{3/2}}{\Gamma[-1/6]} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(\Delta)}{|\Delta|^{2/3}}.$$
(4.60)

This result is parametrically the same as the intermediate regime result at $x_0 = x_{\text{osc}}$, see eq. (4.56). The two solutions therefore match appropriately. The LNV contribution in this regime is very small and has been neglected for simplicity.

Unflavoured wLNV. A good approximation in this case can be obtained from the result in the weak washout regime and projecting it on the zero mode at the thermalization time $\Lambda_{\max}(x_{\text{th}}) = 1$ (see eq. (4.30)):

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)_{LNV}^{\text{wLNV-osc}} \simeq 12 \frac{\kappa \gamma_0^2 s_0}{3\gamma_0 + \kappa \gamma_1} \frac{M^2}{T_{\text{EW}}^2} \frac{x_{\text{th}}}{\Delta} y^2 \sum_{\alpha} y_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}' \sin \Delta \beta_{\alpha}$$
$$\simeq -24 \frac{\kappa s_0 \gamma_0}{3\gamma_0 + \kappa \gamma_1} \frac{1}{T_{\text{EW}}^2} \Delta_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{osc}}. \tag{4.61}$$

Note that, remarkably, this result matches the one obtained in the corresponding intermediate region, see eq. (4.57).

4.4 Relating to the baryon asymmetry

To relate the chemical potentials to the baryon asymmetry we go beyond the widely used instantaneous sphaleron freeze-out approximation and use a smooth transition between $T \in [T_{\rm C}, T_{\rm EW}] = [160 \,\text{GeV}, 131.7 \,\text{GeV}]$, following the method of ref. [72] (see also [37] for other approach to the treatment of the sphaleron rate).

We have seen that this effect is not relevant in most of the parameter space, but it is very relevant when all flavours enter the strong washout close to $x_{\rm EW}$. In this case, the smooth sphaleron freeze-out has two important effects: i) it counteracts the effect of the significant growth of the LNV rates in the range $[T_{\rm C}, T_{\rm EW}]$ and ii) it reduces the washout



Figure 5. Comparison of the smooth sphaleron freeze-out (red) to the instantaneous approximation (blue). Deviations can be as large as $\mathcal{O}(10)$ if all modes leave the weak coupling regime close to $T_{\rm EW}$ (left) and at most a factor of two if at least one mode remains weakly coupled (right).

of the asymmetry below $T_{\rm C}$. In these situations the prediction of the BAU can be changed by $\mathcal{O}(10)$, see figure 5.

Following [72], the smooth sphaleron freeze-out is implemented as follows. We introduce an additional differential equation for the baryon number in the range $T < T_{\rm C}$

$$xH_u \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} Y_B = -\Gamma_B (Y_B - Y_B^{\mathrm{eq}}), \qquad (4.62)$$

where

$$\Gamma_B = 3^2 \frac{869 + 333(\sqrt{2}\langle \Phi \rangle / T)^2}{792 + 306(\sqrt{2}\langle \Phi \rangle / T)^2} \frac{\Gamma_{\text{diff}}}{T^3} , \qquad (4.63)$$

and the temperature dependent higgs vev below $T_{\rm C}$ is $\langle \Phi \rangle^2 = v^2 (1 - T/T_{\rm C})$. The critical temperature $T_{\rm C}$ and the Chern-Simons diffusion rate

$$\Gamma_{\rm diff}^{T < T_{\rm C}} = \Gamma_{\rm diff} = \exp\left(-147.7 + \frac{0.83T}{\rm GeV}\right) T^4 \,, \tag{4.64}$$

are obtained from a lattice calculation [53].

On the other hand, in the instantaneous freeze-out the sphalerons are in full equilibrium up to $T_{\rm EW}$, and the relation between the baryon asymmetry and the chemical potential is given by [73, 74]

$$Y_B^{\text{eq}} \simeq 3.6 \times 10^{-3} \chi(T) \sum_{\alpha} \mu_{\frac{B}{3} - L_{\alpha}}, \text{ with } \chi(T) \simeq \frac{4(27(\sqrt{2}\langle \Phi \rangle/T)^2 + 77)}{333((\sqrt{2}\langle \Phi \rangle/T)^2 + 869)},$$
(4.65)

where the factor in the equilibrium relation arises from the relation of the chemical potential to the particle number density in a comoving volume, see eq. (4.3), normalized to a constant entropy density $s = (2\pi^2)/45g_{s*}T^3$. For $T = T_{\rm EW}$ we obtain

$$Y_B^{\text{eq}} \simeq 1.26 \times 10^{-3} \sum_{\alpha} \mu_{\frac{B}{3} - L_{\alpha}} \,.$$
 (4.66)

The experimentally measured value of the asymmetry is [75]

$$Y_B^{\exp} = (8.66 \pm 0.05) \times 10^{-11} \,. \tag{4.67}$$

As long as one mode remains weakly coupled at $x_{\rm EW}$ the gradual sphaleron freezeout differs from the instantaneous decoupling approximation at most by a factor of two if the asymmetry is dominated by the contribution of eq. (4.51), see figure 5, and by a few percent if any other weakly coupled mode dominates the asymmetry generation. However deviations can be as large as $\mathcal{O}(10)$ if all modes leave the weak coupling regime at $x_{\rm EW}$, since in this case the washout of the asymmetry is exponential and therefore very sensitive to the details of the sphaleron freeze-out.

5 Parameter constraints from the baryon asymmetry

From the analytical results of the previous sections we can easily derive the constraints imposed by successful baryon asymmetry on the masses and mixings of the HNLs. For these estimates we use the instantaneous sphaleron freeze-out approximation of eq. (4.66) and evaluate the rates at T = 150 GeV for fixed $M_1 = 1 \text{ GeV}$. In the next section we will compare the constraints derived here with the results from the full numerical analysis. In appendix C, we consider the bounds for the pure LNC case, that is neglecting M/Tcorrections in the rates.

5.1 Overdamped regime

The overdamped regime is defined by $\Lambda_{ov}(x_{EW}) \leq 1$ which translates into

$$(U^2)_{\rm ov} \ge 8 \times 10^9 \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M} \frac{M}{1 \,\text{GeV}}\right)^2 \,. \tag{5.1}$$

On the other hand, the dynamics heavily depends on whether LNV rates are weak or strong. Using eq. (4.37) we find that the wLNV regime requires mixings

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm wLNV} \le 1 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^4,\tag{5.2}$$

while for larger mixings LNV rates are strong. We consider both cases separately.

5.1.1 wLNV regime

The analytical solution in this regime is given by eq. (4.51), in terms of the CP invariants. Using eq. (3.14) (eq. (3.19)) for NH (IH), and the relation between the B - L chemical potentials and the final baryon asymmetry as given by eq. (4.66), the asymmetry within the wLNV can be expressed as

$$(Y_B)_{\rm ov}^{\rm wLNV} \simeq 2 \times 10^{-1} \frac{\Delta M}{M} \left(\frac{10^{-7}}{U^2}\right) \frac{1 \,\text{GeV}}{M} \left(\left(\frac{M}{1 \,\text{GeV}}\right)^4 f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm H} - \left(\frac{10^{-7}}{U^2}\right) f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm H}\right).$$
(5.3)

The functions $f_{\text{LNC/LNV}}^{\text{H}}$ isolate the angular dependence of the CP invariants, associated to both the LNC and LNV contributions, on the PMNS angles and phases, as well as the

high scale phase θ . They are naturally expected to be $\mathcal{O}(1)$ quantities. The superscript H corresponds to the unknown neutrino hierarchy. At leading order in the expansion parameters, r, θ_{13} and θ_{23} , cf. eq. (3.14) and eq. (3.19), we find

$$f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm IH} = \frac{(1 + 3c_\phi \sin 2\theta_{12})(c_\theta s_\phi \sin 2\theta_{12} + s_\theta \cos 2\theta_{12})}{1 - c_\phi^2 \sin^2 2\theta_{12}}, \qquad (5.4)$$

and

$$f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm NH} = f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm NH} = 2/r^2 f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm IH} = s_{\theta} \,.$$
 (5.5)

For a fixed set of (θ, ϕ) , the asymmetry within the wLNV regime can have different signs depending on the particular value of the HNL masses. This is explained by the dominance of the LNC contribution (second term in eq. (5.3)) or the LNV one (first term), since both contributions to the final asymmetry estimation have opposite sign.

Solving for the mixing U^2 in eq. (5.3) to match the observed BAU we find

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm ov}^{\rm wLNV} = 1.3 \times 10^2 f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm H} \frac{\Delta M}{M} \left(\frac{M}{1\,{\rm GeV}}\right)^3 + 7.2 \times 10^6 \sqrt{\frac{\Delta M}{M}} \sqrt{\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}}$$
$$\times \sqrt{3.5 \times 10^{-10} \left(f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm H}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right) \left(\frac{M}{1\,{\rm GeV}}\right)^7 - 4.3 \times 10^{-19} f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm H}} \,.$$
(5.6)

The square root in eq. (5.6) must be real and this results in a mass threshold of

$$M_* \simeq 5 \times 10^{-2} \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M} \frac{|f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm H}|^2}{|f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm H}|} \right)^{-1/7} \,{\rm GeV}\,.$$
 (5.7)

For $M \leq M_*$, the LNC contribution dominates and the positivity requirement of $(Y_B)_{ov}^{wLNV}$ selects $f_{LNC}^{H} < 0$. For $M \geq M_*$, when LNV dominates instead, matching the BAU requires $f_{LNV}^{H} > 0$.

Maximizing the functions f^H in absolute value over the unknown phases (θ, δ, ϕ) , an *upper* bound on the HNL mixing, for fixed $\Delta M/M$ and M, can be derived. For NH we find:⁸

$$\left. \left(U^2 \right)_{\rm ov}^{\rm wLNV} \right|_{\rm NH} \leq \mp 1.3 \times 10^2 \frac{\Delta M}{M} \left(\frac{M}{1 \,{\rm GeV}} \right)^3 + 7.2 \times 10^6 \sqrt{\frac{\Delta M}{M}} \sqrt{\frac{1 \,{\rm GeV}}{M}}$$
$$\times \sqrt{3.5 \times 10^{-10} \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M} \right) \left(\frac{M}{1 \,{\rm GeV}} \right)^7 \pm 7.7 \times 10^{-19}},$$
(5.8)

where the upper (lower) sign corresponds to $M < M_*$ ($M > M_*$). For low values of M the bound is saturated for $\theta = 3\pi/2$, while in the large mass limit this occurs for $\theta = \pi/2$.

In the IH case M_* is always inside the strong LNV regime. Therefore, the LNV contribution can be neglected for all the range of masses and the bound can be simplified to

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm ov}^{\rm wLNV}\Big|_{\rm IH} \lesssim 15 \times 10^{-3} \sqrt{\frac{\Delta M}{M}} \sqrt{\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}}\,,$$
(5.9)

which is saturated for $(\theta, \phi) = (3\pi/2, 0)$.

⁸We note that the next-to-leading order contribution can enhance $f_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{NH}}$ by a factor of 1.8 and, therefore, we include it in the numerical evaluations.



Figure 6. Left: contour lines corresponding to $f_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{IH}} = (0, 0.1, 1)$ (solid, dashed, dotted). Grey shaded regions lead to a negative baryon asymmetry. Right: contour lines in red corresponding to $\tilde{f}_{\text{IH}}^{\mu,\tau} = (0.01, 0.1)$ (dashed, dotted) and in blue to $-\tilde{f}_{\text{IH}}^{\mu,\tau} = \tilde{f}_{\text{IH}}^e/2 = (0.01, 0.1)$. The black solid line represents $\tilde{f}_{\text{IH}}^a = 0$.

Values of the mixing much smaller than the upper bound necessarily require a suppression from f^H to match the BAU. For NH this is controlled by only one parameter, θ .⁹ In contrast, in the IH case the required suppression of the BAU depends on (θ, ϕ) and involves a strong correlation between these two phases as shown on the left panel in figure 6. Any numerical scan (e.g. Markov Chain Monte Carlo, Bayesian Nested Sampling, etc.) that treat both phases as independent parameters may have difficulties in finding the required correlation. The analytical result is therefore a necessary guide to optimize the scan of parameter space.

Finally, note that the upper limit on the HNL mixing is proportional to $\Delta M/M$. However, the overdamped regime leads to an upper bound on $\Delta M/M$, see eq. (5.1). Therefore, saturating the bound on $\Delta M/M$ from eq. (5.1) and substituting the resulting expression into eq. (5.6), leads to the maximal attainable mixing compatible with the BAU in this regime. The resulting expression is not particularly illuminating and cannot be solved analytically for U^2 . However, a reasonably good approximation is obtained neglecting the LNV contributions for both hierarchies. We obtain the compact expression

$$U^2 \lesssim 5\,(17) \times 10^{-7} \left(\frac{1\,\text{GeV}}{M}\right)^{4/3} \text{ NH (IH)}.$$
 (5.10)

We remark that this is an absolute upper bound valid in the wLNV, i.e. for $M \lesssim \mathcal{O}(1 \,\text{GeV})$.

 $^{^9\}mathrm{Higher}$ order corrections in the expansion must be considered if f^H is less than 10% of its maximum value.

5.1.2 sLNV regime

The analytical solution in this regime is given in eq. (4.52). Using the expression for the CP invariants given by eq. (3.14) (eq. (3.19)) for NH (IH), and the relation between the B-L chemical potentials and the final baryon asymmetry as given by eq. (4.66), we obtain

$$(Y_B)_{\rm ov}^{\rm sLNV} \simeq 9 \times 10^3 \frac{\Delta M}{M} \left(\frac{10^{-7}}{U^2}\right)^{8/3} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^{11/3} f_{\rm LNV}^{\rm H} \,.$$
 (5.11)

The angular function f_{LNV}^H is defined in eq. (5.5) and has its maximum at $\theta = \pi/2$, and this leads to the upper bound

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm ov}^{\rm sLNV} \le 15\,(3) \times 10^{-4} \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{3/8} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^{11/8} \,{\rm NH\,(IH)}\,.$$
 (5.12)

Including the upper bound on $\Delta M/M$ such that the overdamped condition of eq. (5.1) is fulfilled we arrive at

$$U^2 \lesssim 16 \,(2.3) \times 10^{-7} \left(\frac{1 \,\text{GeV}}{M}\right)^{28/13} \,\text{NH}\,(\text{IH})\,.$$
 (5.13)

This should be seen as an absolute upper bound on the mixing for HNLs with masses $M \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ GeV})$, if the asymmetry is to be explained with the asymptotic overdamped mode. A more conservative estimate, which will still be satisfied if we allow for some suppression due to strong washout, is given by the maximal asymmetry which can be generated before the LNV rates become strong. Namely, the asymmetry within the overdamped wLNV regime at the point x_M^{ov} , eq. (4.49). Evaluating eq. (4.51) at $x = x_M^{\text{ov}}$, using eq. (3.14) (eq. (3.19)) for NH (IH) and the translation of the B - L chemical potentials to the final baryon asymmetry, we obtain a conservative estimate which coincides with eq. (5.12) for NH. For IH, this conservative estimate is a factor ×4 larger than the corresponding result in eq. (5.12). Similarly, introducing the maximum $\Delta M/M$ that satisfies the overdamped condition, the corresponding conservative bound is that of eq. (5.13) for NH, while for IH it is a factor ×6 larger than eq. (5.13).

5.2 Intermediate regime

In the parameter space outside the overdamped region, i.e. for mixings that do not satisfy eq. (5.1), the analytical estimate depends on whether we are in the intermediate or fast oscillation regime. They are separated by the line

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm osc/int} \simeq 10^{-6} \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{1/3} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^{4/3},\tag{5.14}$$

corresponding to $\epsilon(x_{\text{osc}}) = 1$, where x_{osc} is given by eq. (4.42) and $\epsilon(x)$ by eq. (4.32). For larger mixings we are in the intermediate regime and for smaller in the fast oscillation regime.

We have seen that the asymmetry in this regime requires that either at least one flavour α remains weakly coupled, i.e. $\Lambda_{\alpha}(x_{\rm EW}) \leq 1$, and/or the LNV mode does, i.e. $\Lambda_M(x_{\rm EW}) \leq 1$. Again we need to distinguish these cases.

5.2.1 Flavoured weak washout

Using eq. (4.35), the *necessary* (but not sufficient) condition to have (at least) one flavour α that remains weak at $x_{\rm EW}$ and at least one strongly coupled is given by

$$10^{-9} \left(\frac{1 \text{GeV}}{M}\right)^2 \frac{1}{\text{Max}(\epsilon_{\alpha})} \le (U^2)_{\text{fw}} \le 10^{-9} \left(\frac{1 \text{GeV}}{M}\right)^2 \frac{1}{\text{Min}(\epsilon_{\alpha})}, \quad (5.15)$$

where $\epsilon_{\alpha} \equiv y_{\alpha}^2/y^2$, which depends only on the PMNS parameters and in particular the unknown CP phases, (δ, ϕ) . While the maximum of ϵ_{α} is $\mathcal{O}(1)$, the minimum is obtained for a given flavour in each hierarchy¹⁰

$$\operatorname{Min}(\epsilon_{\tau})_{\mathrm{IH}} \simeq \operatorname{Min}(\epsilon_{e})_{\mathrm{NH}} = 5 \times 10^{-3} \,. \tag{5.16}$$

The range of phases that lead to a small ϵ_{α} are shown in figure 15.

If a flavour remains slow until $x_{\rm EW}$, but the LNV mode becomes strong earlier, the asymmetry is well approximated by eq. (4.56). Including the CP invariants from eq. (3.15) (eq. (3.20)) for NH (IH), the final asymmetry is well approximated by

$$(Y_B)_{\rm fw-int} \simeq 9.5 \times 10^{-9} \eta \ \tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\rm NH/IH} \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{-1/5} \left(\frac{1 \,{\rm GeV}}{{\rm M}}\right)^{1/5} \left(\frac{10^{-9}}{U^2}\right)^{2/5},$$
 (5.17)

where η is a constant factor that depends on whether the LNV becomes strong or not before x_{EW} . η is a constant factor equal to 1 in the weak LNV limit ($x_M^{\text{int}} \ge x_{\text{EW}}$) and

$$\eta = \frac{\gamma_1 \kappa}{2\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \kappa} \simeq 4 \,, \tag{5.18}$$

0/5

in the strong LNV case $(x_M^{\text{int}} \leq x_{\text{EW}})$. The angular functions are given by

$$\tilde{f}_{\rm NH}^e = r s_{12}^2 s_\theta, \quad \tilde{f}_{\rm IH}^{\mu,\tau} = -\tilde{f}_{\rm IH}^e/2 = -\frac{1}{4} (\sin 2\theta_{12} s_\phi c_\theta + \cos 2\theta_{12} s_\theta) \,. \tag{5.19}$$

Maximizing the factors of $\tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\rm NH/IH}$ over then unknown CP phases, and requiring that the asymmetry is the observed one, leads to the following upper bound

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm int} \le 1(40) \times 10^{-6} \eta \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{-1/2} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (5.20)

This upper bound on U^2 set by the BAU is less stringent than the one impossed by the required weak flavour condition of eq. (5.15). Therefore, the latter sets the upper bound, which means that the asymmetry can always be explained inside the region defined by eq. (5.15). On the other hand, since the upper limit on U^2 driven by eq. (5.15) is more stringent than that in eq. (5.20), a significant suppression from $\tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\rm NH/IH}$ is needed to match the BAU in this region. For NH this is mostly controlled by s_{θ} , while for IH involves a non-trivial correlation between the two phases (θ, ϕ) as shown on the right panel of figure 6. Matching the asymmetry involves therefore an interplay of a minimization in the flavour hierarchy ϵ_{α} and the angular function $\tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\rm NH/IH}$. While for NH a significant suppression can be achieved for all three flavours. Note, however, that $\tilde{f}^{e}_{\rm IH}$ has the opposite sign to $\tilde{f}^{\mu/\tau}_{\rm IH}$.

¹⁰For IH there are particular solutions for (δ, ϕ) which can lead to $Min(\epsilon_{\mu}) \simeq 5 \times 10^{-4}$.

5.2.2 Unflavoured weak LNV

For U^2 exceeding the weak flavour region given by eq. (5.15), an asymmetry is only achievable if the LNV mode is weak. Using eq. (4.38), this requires

$$(U^2)_{\rm wLNV} \le 4 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{M}{1 \,{\rm GeV}}\right)^{-4}$$
. (5.21)

According to the analytical result obtained for this regime, given by eq. (4.57), and using eq. (3.15) (eq. (3.20)) for NH (IH), it is easy to check that the corresponding asymmetry is independent of the mixing U^2 . Maximizing over the unknown CP phases, we have found that the maximum asymmetry achievable in this regime is much smaller than the observed BAU for the relevant range of HNL masses. Therefore this regime fails in reproducing the BAU.

5.3 Fast oscillation regime

In the fast oscillation regime the analytical approximations are valid for mixings smaller than the one given in eq. (5.14). As in the intermediate regime, two qualitatively different regimes need to be considered: if the flavour α remains weak until $x_{\rm EW}$, or if it is the LNV mode the one remaining weak. In the latter case the analytical approximation matches exactly the one of the intermediate regime and thus the same conclusion as in the previous subsection applies: the BAU can not be explained. However, with flavour effects, which are possible in the range defined by eq. (5.15), the asymmetry can be expressed by using eq. (4.58), and eq. (3.15) (eq. (3.20)) for NH (IH), as

$$(Y_B)_{\rm fw-osc} = -4.3 \times 10^{-12} \eta \tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\rm NH/IH} \left(\frac{U^2}{10^{-9}}\right) \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{-2/3} \left(\frac{M}{1 \,{\rm GeV}}\right)^{5/3}, \qquad (5.22)$$

with the same constant factor η and angular function $\tilde{f}^{\alpha}_{\text{NH/IH}}$ as in the intermediate regime. Successful baryogenesis then implies a lower limit on U^2 given by

$$(U^2)_{\rm osc} \ge 18\,(3.7) \times 10^{-8} \eta \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}\right)^{5/3} {\rm NH}\,({\rm IH})\,.$$
 (5.23)

When this lower limit becomes larger than the upper limit of flavoured weak washout, eq. (5.15), which happens at large $\Delta M/M$, no solution is possible. Thus, these two conditions can be used to set an upper bound on $\Delta M/M$ for which the BAU can be reproduced within the fast oscillation regime

$$\frac{\Delta M}{M} \le 4.2 \times 10^{-3} \,^{(4)} \left(\frac{1 \,\text{GeV}}{M}\right)^{1/2} \frac{1}{\text{Min}(\epsilon_{\alpha})^{3/2}} \,\text{NH}\left(\text{IH}\right).$$
(5.24)

6 Numerical results: comparison with analytical approximations and parameter scan

As we have seen, the generation of a baryonic asymmetry via right handed neutrino oscillations generally involves various time scales which may be very different. The stiffness of a

Scenario	$\log_{10}(M)$	$\log_{10}(\frac{\Delta M}{2})$	$\log_{10}(y_e)$	$\log_{10}(y_{\mu})$	$\log_{10}(y_{\tau})$	$\Delta \beta_e$	$\Delta \beta_{\mu}$	$\Delta \beta_{\tau}$
(a)	0	-10	-5	-5.1	-5.2	0	$\pi/2$	$\pi/2$
(b)	1	-10	-5	-5.1	-5.2	0	$\pi/2$	$\pi/2$
(c)	1	-5	-5	-5.1	-8.2	0	$\pi/2$	$\pi/2$
(d)	1.5	-1	-8	-5.4	-5.5	$\pi/2$	$\pi/2$	0

Table 2. Input parameters for the comparison between the analytical and numerical solutions shown in figure 7. The perturbative y' parameters are always taken to be the same: $y'_e = 10^{-9}, y'_{\mu} = 10^{-9.1}, y'_{\tau} = 10^{-9.2}$.

(linear) numerical system such as eq. (4.14) is dictated by the ratio of the largest to smallest non-zero eigenvalue of A, max($|\lambda|$)/min($|\lambda|$). If this happens to be much bigger than unity the system is affected by a *stiff* behaviour. The standard method to overcome the problem is to use variable-order implicit methods. We find, in agreement with ref. [40], that the FORTRAN77 ODEPACK implementation of the LSODA algorithm efficiently solves the full nonlinear set of kinetic equations. Furthermore, significant speed up can be achieved in the fast oscillating regime, $\Gamma_{\rm osc}/\Gamma \gg 1$, by switching to an incoherent evolution. We average out the oscillations once they reach a frequency of 10^5 or 10^3 oscillations are completed. With these optimizations the solver integrates within seconds, and therefore an extensive scan of the parameter space is possible. The software used, amiqs [76], is made publicly available.

6.1 Analytical results versus numerical solutions

The derived analytical solutions presented in section 4.3 represent asymptotic solutions for $\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}$. For the intermediate and fast oscillation regimes we only give the large time asymptotic result. Although the full time dependence can also be obtained, the expressions are too lengthy and not particularly illuminating. To verify the accuracy of the analytical solutions we confront them with i) the numerical solution within the same approximations used in the analytical derivation (i.e. linearization of the full system, constant rates (γ_i, s_i), and a diagonal C matrix), and ii) the full non-linear numerical solution. In order to easily select the different regimes and for clarity we make use of the parameterization in eq. (2.4), i.e. we do not include the light neutrino mass constraints here. Including them does not change anything qualitatively, but different regimes become non-linearly connected to the input parameters.

Considering the CP invariants given by eqs. (3.1)-(3.4), it is evident that unequal y_{α} are necessary to generate a non-zero asymmetry within the LNC limit. In contrast LNV contributions are non-zero in a flavour democratic scenario with equal y_{α} . Such choice actually isolates the pure LNV contribution. In the general case of unequal y_{α} both, LNC and LNV contributions, contribute to the final asymmetry. Also, recall that outside the overdamped regime flavour effects are necessary to explain the BAU, see section 5. In table 2, we present various choices of the input parameters considering unequal y_{α} that we use to test the agreement of our analytical expressions to the numerical result. Our choice



Figure 7. Comparison of the asymptotic analytical result (black dashed) to i) the numerical result with the same settings (blue) and ii) the full non-linear numerical solution (red) in the four scenarios (a)-(d) as described in the main text. In the top left we show the scenario (a), in the top right the scenario (b), in the bottom left the scenario (c) and in the bottom right the scenario (d). The vertical dashed lines indicate projection times used for the analytical derivation.

of parameters allow us to exemplify the different regimes that are relevant in different regions of the parameter space, namely

- (a) Overdamped regime with weak LNV as given by eq. (4.51),
- (b) Overdamped regime with strong LNV as given by eq. (4.52),
- (c) Intermediate regime with slow flavour α and strong LNV as given by eq. (4.56),
- (d) Fast oscillation regime with slow flavour α and strong LNV as given by eq. (4.58).

Our results are shown in figure 7. The comparison of the analytical result, indicated by the dashed line, with the numerical solution obtained in the same approximations used in the analytical analysis, shown in blue, is very good in all cases. The exact numerical result (red) including non-linear terms, the C matrix of eq. (4.5) and temperature dependent rates differ within a factor of two at most with the analytical estimate. This is mainly due to the difference in the rates considered.

$\log_{10}(M_1)$	$\log_{10}(\Delta M/M_1)$	$\log_{10}(y)$	θ	δ	ϕ
[-1, 2]	[-14, -1]	[-8, -4]	$[0, 2\pi]$	$[0, 2\pi]$	$[0, 2\pi]$

 Table 3. Priors for the nested sampling.

6.2 Parameter scan of testable baryogenesis

We have performed a numerical scan of the parameter space compatible with successful baryogenesis for HNL masses in the range $0.1 \leq M \leq 100$ GeV. In this range, the best testability options will be provided by SHiP [57] and FCC running at the Z-peak [54]. Our main goal is to study the correlation between the BAU and different observables, such as the masses and mixings of the HNLs, and therefore we have restricted the scan to the part of the parameter space that can be probed by these future experiments.

We use a Bayesian estimation from the log-likelihood

$$\log(\mathcal{L}) = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{Y_B(T_{\rm EW}) - Y_B^{\rm exp}}{\sigma_{Y_B^{\rm exp}}} \right) , \qquad (6.1)$$

which we implement in the nested sampling algorithm UltraNest [77].

The result of a bayesian estimation is always dependent on the concrete choice of the prior distribution. Being restricted to the minimal scenario with two HNLs, the parameter space which can explain the light neutrino data is spanned by 6 independent variables: three phases (δ, ϕ, θ) , two parameters fixing the heavy neutrino mass scale $(M, \Delta M)$ and one parameter which essentially fixes the Yukawa scale, y. We agnostically choose flat priors linear in the three phases and logarithmic in $M_1, \Delta M/M_1$ and y, see table 3. Additionally, since we are mainly interested in the testability of this mechanism within SHiP and FCC, the sampler is programmed to automatically reject points which fall outside the sensitivity reach or are already experimentally excluded, thereby augmenting the speed of parameter space volume shrinking towards a higher likelihood. A further constraint on the parameter space arises from imposing that the symmetry breaking parameter y'/y < 0.1, see eq. (3.7) (eq. (3.9)) for NH (IH). The lower bound on $\Delta M/M$ is somewhat arbitrary since the evolution is overdamped in the region of the parameter space that can be probed by SHiP (FCC) already for $\Delta M/M \sim 10^{-10} (10^{-12})$. Even though the analytical results seem to indicate that asymmetries vanish in the limit of $\Delta M \to 0$, at higher order in y' there are additional CP invariants [78] that may be relevant in this limit [39]. This case will be considered elsewhere.

Let us first analyze the case in which $\Delta M/M$ is fixed to different values, i.e. $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$, 10^{-5} , 10^{-2} , before we turn to discuss the global scan varying $\Delta M/M$. This separates different regimes (overdamped, intermediate, fast oscillations) to be relevant in different parts of the parameter space.

Highly degenerate HNLs with $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$. For mass degeneracies of $\Delta M/M \leq 10^{-8}(10^{-9})$ the overdamped regime starts to apply in part of the parameter space covered by SHiP and FCC. In this case, successful BAU does not require flavour effects and HNL mixings beyond the constrained flavoured weak washout region as defined in



Figure 8. Result of the numerical scan for $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$ shown in blue (red) for NH (IH) with standard priors in the phases. For NH, we include in lighter blue the result obtained using priors for the phases that are flat in a logarithmic scale. The black lines represent the analytical upper bound on the mixing, while the dashed for IH is the conservative bound described in the text. The stars indicate benchmark points, see main text. Color coding for the shaded regions as in figure 1.

eq. (5.15) are possible. However, the mixing is not unrestricted because the BAU imposes an upper bound (if light neutrino masses are accounted for), which depends on whether the LNV rates are weak, cf. eqs. (5.6) and (5.9), or strong, cf. eq. (5.12). These upper bounds are represented as black lines in figure 8. The dashed line in the IH scenario shows the conservative bound resulting from the maximal achievable asymmetry within the wLNV regime, as explained in section 5, which is partially washed out. Note that in the NH scenario both estimates are identical. In order to have a more quantitative understanding, it is useful to analyze representative benchmark points. We choose three benchmark points which account for different properties:

- (a) Red star: saturating the upper bound on the mixing.
- (b) Green star: saturating the conservative upper bound.
- (c) Orange star: point within the region in which the BAU is reached via exponential fine-tuning.

The corresponding evolution of the baryon asymmetry is depicted in figure 11, and shows the expected behavior in accordance with the analytical understanding.

Recall that points saturating the upper bound on the mixing are achieved via the *natural* value of the angular part of the CP invariants $f_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{H}} \simeq f_{\text{LNV}}^{\text{H}} \simeq \mathcal{O}(1)$, see eqs. (5.4)–(5.5). For smaller mixings, suppressed angular functions are needed and this implies a non-trivial correlation between the CP phases, see figure 6. Our bayesian analysis, with flat priors in all three phases, was not able to resolve the necessary pattern and hence the density of points decreases with the distance to the upper bound. As a proof of principle, we made an additional scan for NH with logarithmic priors in all phases within the range [-5, -2]. Since for NH the angular function depends mostly on θ , the logarithmic flat prior in this parameter should help. Indeed, this separate analysis finds points compatible with the BAU up to the sensitivity limit of SHiP and FCC. This result demonstrates the



Figure 9. Result of the numerical scan for $\Delta M/M = 10^{-5}$ shown in blue (red) for NH (IH). The mixing is only bounded by the requirement of having a slow flavour α at $T_{\rm EW}$. Color coding for the shaded regions as in figure 1.

well known fact that the posterior result is strongly dependent on the prior assumptions, as well as the difficulty of exploring such large parameter space without an analytical understanding.

Mildly degenerate HNLs with $\Delta M/M = 10^{-5}$. For mildly degenerate HNLs two different regimes become relevant, i.e. the intermediate and fast oscillation regime. They are separated by the line defined by eq. (5.14). In both cases the HNL mixing is only bounded from above via the requirement of having a weak flavour at $T_{\rm EW}$, see eq. (5.15). This is clearly seen in figure 9. Points which can explain the BAU for larger mixings, i.e. without having a slow flavour α until $T_{\rm EW}$, necessarily show an exponential fine-tuned behaviour similar to the orange benchmark point shown in figure 11. However, the numerical scan finds less points showing this fine tuned behaviour than in the case of $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$. This is because the overshooting of the asymmetry at earlier times is larger (and needs therefore to be more strongly washed out) for larger $\Delta M/M$.

Non-degenerate HNLs with $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$. In this case, the baryon asymmetry is generated always in the fast oscillation regime. As we have seen in the previous section, in this regime the BAU imposes a lower bound on the HNL mixing, see eq. (5.23), indicated by the solid black line in figure 10. This lower bound on U^2 is indeed found in the numerical scan as shown in figure 10. We select a benchmark point saturating the lower bound (yellow star) and the evolution of the corresponding BAU generated is shown in figure 11. The evolution is characterized by an approximate constant asymmetry at late times, indicating the relevance of a weakly coupled flavour α . Smaller mixings would not reproduce the correct BAU. On the other hand, the upper bound on the mixing is again given by the criteria of having a slow flavour α during all the evolution.

Global result for variable $\Delta M/M$. When the mass splitting of the HNLs is not known, different regimes can apply for the same pair of (U^2, M) . Nevertheless, there is an absolute upper bound on the mixing for which the BAU can be reproduced within the model. We find that the maximal mixing is achieved for the maximum value of $\Delta M/M$



Figure 10. Result of the numerical scan for $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ shown in blue (red) for NH (IH). The lower bound on the mixing imposed by the BAU in the fast oscillation regime is indicated by the black line, while there is an upper bound given by the requirement of having a slow flavour α at $x_{\rm EW}$. Color coding for the shaded regions as in figure 1.



Figure 11. Benchmark points from the numerical scan representing different qualitative behaviours of the BAU generation, see main text and figures 8 to 10.



Figure 12. Numerical result of the Bayesian analysis (blue (red) points for NH (IH)) together with the analytical derived upper bound on the HNL mixing (black line). The grey shaded regions is excluded by direct searches or neutrino masses (seesaw limit), while the yellow one is excluded by big bang nucleosynthesis constraints.

within the overdamped regime. This is because only within the overdamped regime the mixing is not restricted by the requirement of flavour effects and the asymmetry is linearly proportional to $\Delta M/M$, see eq. (5.3) and eq. (5.11). The upper bound, however, depends on whether there is a second weak mode at $T_{\rm EW}$ or not. For low masses it is given by eq. (5.10) in the wLNV regime, while for larger masses the conservative bound derived from eq. (5.13) in the sLNV regime applies. In figure 12 we show the points of the parameter space leading to the correct BAU found by the bayesian analysis together with the analytically derived absolute upper bound. We find good agreement between our numerical result and the analytical estimate, as well as with previous numerical results, see for example [13].

In appendix **D** we show two dimensional projections of the full numerical scan that reveal some non trivial correlations. In particular, we include the projections on $|U_{\alpha}|^2$, $\Delta M/M$, M and θ .

7 Constraints on other observables from the baryon asymmetry

We finally want to discuss the correlation of the baryon asymmetry with other observables. Of particular interest are the flavour of the HNL mixings and neutrinoless double-beta decay.¹¹ We will also comment on the possible measurement of ΔM for the extreme degeneracies needed in the overdamped regime.

7.1 HNL flavour mixings

It is well known that in the minimal model with two extra singlets, the present constraints on neutrino masses fix to a large extent the ratios $|U_{\alpha}|^2/U^2$, where $U_{\alpha} \equiv \Theta_{\alpha I}$. In fact, those ratios for sufficiently large U^2 (or in the approximate LN conserving limit) are completely determined from the light neutrino masses and mixings [33, 51]. The unknown CP violating phases in the PMNS matrix lead to some uncertainty in the flavour ratios.

¹¹The implications of BAU on charged lepton flavour violating processes, such as $\mu \to e\gamma$ or $\mu - e$ conversion, has been recently considered in ref. [79].



Figure 13. Points of the numerical scan with successful baryogenesis within the sensitivity region of SHiP and FCC for NH (blue) and IH (red).

This is nicely summarized in a ternary diagram [80]. The restriction imposed by successful baryogenesis for large mixings on the ternary diagram has been first studied in [39]. In figure 13 we show the points on the ternary diagram for NH/IH within the sensitivity region of SHiP and FCC, which successfully explain the baryon asymmetry. Since we have not included errors in the oscillation parameters, the only uncertainty is related to the CP phases, δ and ϕ , which we assume unconstrained. Explaining the baryon asymmetry does not seem to restrict the region with respect to the one found in ref. [80]. However, if we restrict to large values of $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ we observe in figure 14 that the regions significantly shrink. These regions can be understood as those that lead to a weak flavour, that is $\epsilon_{\alpha} \ll 1$ for one or more $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$.

As we have seen, for $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ the overdamped regime is not possible and flavour effects are necessarily present to explain the baryon asymmetry within the SHiP/FCC regions. These flavour effects are related to the minimization of ϵ_{α} . As we have seen in section 5, the slow flavour for NH is always $\alpha = e$. The (ϕ, δ) phases leading to a suppressed ϵ_e are shown in the left panel of figure 15. For IH, the slow mode can be $\alpha = \mu, \tau$ or $\alpha = e$ in the regions shown in the right plot of figure 15. The points from the scan at fixed $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ are superimposed in figure 15, demonstrating that beyond the requirement of being in the weak flavour washout, the baryon asymmetry does not seem to impose further constraints on the PMNS CP phases. This is because the parameter θ can still be fixed to obtain the correct sign and magnitude of the baryon asymmetry.

The baryon asymmetry makes therefore a clear prediction for the HNL flavoured mixings or the PMNS phases when $\Delta M/M$ is sufficiently large.





Figure 14. Points fo the numerical scan with successful baryogenesis within the SHiP (left) and FCC (right) regions for fixed $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ and NH (blue) or IH (red). The dashed lines correspond to the regions of figure 13.



Figure 15. Points from the scan at $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ for NH (left) and IH (right). The black dotted lines enclose the regions where $\epsilon_e \leq 0.01$ (NH), and $\epsilon_e \leq 0.05$ (IH), while the dashed lines enclose the region $\epsilon_{\mu} \leq 0.03$ and the solid that corresponding to $\epsilon_{\tau} \leq 0.03$.

7.2 Neutrinoless double-beta decay

The amplitude for this process depends on the combination of neutrino parameters $m_{\beta\beta}$, that gets contributions from the light and heavy neutrino sectors

$$m_{\beta\beta} = \left| \sum_{i=\text{light}} U_{ei}^2 m_i + \sum_{I=\text{heavy}} \Theta_{eI}^2 M_I \mathcal{M}(M_I) / \mathcal{M}(0) \right|, \qquad (7.1)$$

where $\mathcal{M}(M_i)$ are the Nuclear Matrix Elements (NME) as a function of the mass of the neutrino mediating the process, as defined in [81]. In our analysis we will consider the NMEs computed in [81]. Recently, it has been found that a new short-distance mechanism associated to the exchange of hard virtual neutrinos can lead to an apreciably different result for the NMEs and a even modify the dependence on the mass of the exchanged neutrino [82–86].¹² However, these new effects are currently under study and will thus not be considered here.

In order to illustrate the main dependence of $m_{\beta\beta}$ on the neutrino parameters, using eq. (3.11) together with eqs. (3.6)–(3.8) and (A.12), the following approximated expression¹³ can be derived [33, 81, 87, 88] for the symmetry protected scenario considered here:

Normal Hierarchy.

$$m_{\beta\beta}^{NH} = \left| \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} \left(c_{12}^2 c_{13}^2 r - e^{-2i(\delta+\phi)} s_{13}^2 \right) -2e^{i\theta} U^2 \Delta M f(A) \left(\frac{0.9 \text{GeV}}{M} \right)^2 \left(r s_{12}^2 + 2\sqrt{r} s_{12} s_{13} e^{-i(\delta+\phi)} + s_{13}^2 e^{-2i(\delta+\phi)} \right) \right|.$$
(7.2)

Inverted Hierarchy.

$$m_{\beta\beta}^{IH} = \left| \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} c_{13}^2 \left(c_{12}^2 - s_{12}^2 e^{2i\phi} + \mathcal{O}\left(r^2\right) \right) - e^{i\theta} U^2 \Delta M f(A) \left(\frac{0.9 \text{GeV}}{M} \right)^2 \left(c_{12} + s_{12}^{i\phi} \right)^2 \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(r^2\right) \right) \right|.$$
(7.3)

The function f(A) depends on the nucleus under consideration: for ⁴⁸Ca, ⁷⁶Ge, ⁸²Se, ¹³⁰Te and ¹³⁶Xe, $f(A) \approx 0.035$, 0.028, 0.028, 0.033 and 0.032, respectively [81, 87]. The above approximated formulae match with the ones derived in [33]¹⁴ using the mapping to the Casas-Ibarra parameterization presented in appendix B.

There are two important implications of successful baryogenesis on the prediction of neutrinoless double-beta decay. First, there can be a sizable non-standard contribution from the heavy states if M is not too large and $\Delta M/M$ not too small. From the above equations, it is clear that the interference of the light and heavy contributions depends on the parameter θ , which is completely unconstrained otherwise, as already shown in [33]. For $M \gg$

¹²We thank J. de Vries for pointing out this effect.

¹³The approximation implies a scaling of the NMEs as $\mathcal{M}(M_I) \propto 1/M_I^2$. For $M_I \leq 3 \text{ GeV}$ the deviation with respect to the nuclear computation [81] is larger than 1%.

¹⁴A typo has been noted in the IH expression in ref. [33]: the factor $1 - 2e^{i\delta}s_{23}\theta_{13}$ should be removed.



Figure 16. 1 and 2 σ regions from the numerical scan on the plane $(\delta, m_{\beta\beta})$ at $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ for NH (blue) and IH (red). The standard light neutrino contribution is contained in the dashed bands. The left plot corresponds to the SHiP range and the right plot to the FCC one.

100 MeV, the matrix element associated to the heavy contribution is suppressed, and can be neglected above a few GeV [89]. Therefore we expect to find a non-standard contribution only in the range of SHiP and for large enough $\Delta M/M$. On the left plot of figure 16, we show the 1 and 2 σ regions from the numerical scan¹⁵ on the plane $(\delta, m_{\beta\beta})$ for both hierarchies and $\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$ in the range of SHiP. The dashed lines correspond to the standard range of the light neutrino contribution to $m_{\beta\beta}$. Indeed we observe a significant deviation of the standard expectation for both hierarchies, which furthermore depends on the Dirac CP phase, δ . The presently preferred range of $\delta \geq \pi$ [90, 91] seems to be also the region where the HNLs effects on $m_{\beta\beta}$ are more relevant. This dependence on δ is the result of a non trivial interplay among the CP phases which play a role in the baryon asymmetry, the U_{α} flavor structure shown in figure 14 (see also figure 15), and neutrinoless double-beta decay.

A second effect is the restriction of the standard light neutrino contribution. Ignoring the uncertainties of nuclear matrix elements, we do not have an accurate prediction of $m_{\beta\beta}$, because it depends on the PMNS CP phases [92]. We have seen that the BAU restricts these phases for large $\Delta M/M$ in order to ensure that at least one flavour remains weak, and this involves the PMNS CP phases. We therefore expect that the prediction for $m_{\beta\beta}$ will also be restricted by this requirement. On the right plot of figure 16, we show the 1 and 2 σ regions for FCC. We observe indeed a reduction of the standard regions, which is very significant for NH. Unfortunately it seems to select the smallest range of $m_{\beta\beta}$. This behaviour is easy to understand analytically just considering the dependence on δ and ϕ of the light neutrino contribution given in eq. (7.3) and the flavor selection shown by figure 15.

7.3 HNL mass splitting

A key parameter regarding the testability of low scale leptogenesis is the HNL mass splitting. This can be kinematically measured for large $\Delta M/M$ depending on the experimental resolution. In the previous sections we have studied the predictions from the baryon asym-

¹⁵Note that due to the imposed constraint on the parameter space while performing the Bayesian analysis the interpretation of the posterior probabilities has to be taken with care.

metry generation on the flavor structure of HNL mixing, the PMNS CP-phases and the neutrinoless double-beta decay rate, considering a potentially measurable value of ΔM ($\Delta M/M = 10^{-2}$). However, for small values of $\Delta M/M$, a kinematical measurement is essentially hopeless.

Interestingly, sensitivity to small $\Delta M/M$ can be achieved in future colliders or beam dump experiments via the measurement of coherent HNL oscillations [93–98] or the correlation among the HNL decay products [99–102]. Both effects are essentially driven by the ratio $\Delta M/\Gamma$, where Γ is the total HNL decay width, and their experimental observation requires roughly $\Delta M \simeq \Gamma$. We have checked that this condition is not fulfilled in the testable region of the parameter space compatible with successful leptogenesis for values of $\Delta M/M$ larger than 10^{-14} . Note, that for smaller values of the mass splitting corrections from the Higgs mechanism induced after electroweak symmetry breaking should be included, which are of the order of the light neutrino masses. This region can be phenomenologically motivated, for instance, in the ν MSM model [11, 103] in which a third HNL at the keV scale, almost decoupled, may be a Dark Matter candidate. This extremely degenerate case will be considered elsewhere.

8 Conclusion

We have presented a detailed study of the baryon asymmetry in the context of the minimal type-I seesaw model, with two extra singlet fermions (HNL) with masses in the 0.1 – 100 GeV range, that can also explain the light neutrino masses. This scenario has received considerable attention in previous literature, since it can be tested in future experiments such as SHiP or FCC. We have focussed precisely in the region of parameter space accessible to these experiments, which requires relatively large HNL mixings, and studied the constraints imposed by the requirement of successfully reproducing the observed baryon asymmetry. As a first step, we have developed an accurate analytical approximation to the baryon asymmetry, exploiting the approximate lepton number symmetry that must be satisfied to achieve large enough HNL mixings, significantly above the naive seesaw expectation, $U^2 \gg m_{\nu}/M$. This is often called an inverse or linear seesaw scenario and involves almost degenerate HNLs and expansion parameters that permit a perturbative solution of the kinetic equations based on the adiabatic approximation. The validity of the approximation has been confirmed by confronting it with the full numerical solutions of the kinetic equations.

These analytical results have allowed us to map all the washout regimes, where the necessary out-of-equilibrium condition is satisfied by at least one mode. The slow modes have been identified as the oscillation mode in the overdamped regime, a weakly coupled flavour in the presence of flavour hierarchies or the mode associated to the approximate lepton number symmetry. The regions corresponding to the different regimes are displayed in figure 1 for two fixed values of the $\Delta M/M$ on the plane of HNL mass and mixing. Interestingly the complex parameter dependencies of the baryon asymmetry are encoded in CP invariants, that can be easily derived from first principles and can be expressed in terms of measurable parameters: light neutrino masses and mixings, HNL masses and mixings and very importantly CP phases. We have used these non-trivial relations to derive

robust bounds on the HNL mixings (upper or lower bounds) depending on the regime, see eqs. (5.6), (5.12), (5.15), (5.23), and on the HNL mass degeneracy in eq. (5.24). Furthermore, strong correlations among CP violating phases for successful baryon asymmetry have been shown to exist in certain regions of parameter space, in particular in regions that are far from the upper/lower bounds. Interestingly, in some regions of parameter space CP phases should be correlated to suppress the angular dependence of the CP invariants, as in figure 6. Also, for moderate HNL degeneracies, flavour effects are mandatory, restricting the PMNS CP phases according to figure 15. This restriction has interesting observable consequences in the flavour of the HNL mixings, as shown in figure 14, and in neutrinoless double-beta decay, see figure 16.

The methods developed in this work will be useful to derive robust bounds in the significantly more complex parameter space of non-minimal models with more than two fermion singlets.

Acknowledgments

We thank J. de Vries, C. Hagedorn, M. Laine, J. Menéndez, J. Salvado, J.L. Tastet and I. Timiryasov for useful discussions and/or clarifications. This work was partially supported by the European Union Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement No 860881-HIDDeN, by the Spanish Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovacion project PID2020-113644GB-I00 and by Generalitat Valenciana through the "plan GenT" program (CIDEGENT/2018/019) and grant PROMETEO/2019/083. We gratefully acknowledges the computer resources at Artemisa, funded by the European Union ERDF and Comunitat Valenciana as well as the technical support provided by the Instituto de Fisica Corpuscular, IFIC (CSIC-UV). The work of SS received the support of a fellowship from "la Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434) with fellowship code LCF/BQ/DI19/11730034.

A CP phases

In this appendix we will show how all the CP phases can be absorbed in the Yukawa couplings leaving M_R as a real symmetric matrix. Further, we will also demonstatrate that in the symmetry protected scenario under consideration, it can be assummed $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ in all generality. Finally, since the CP invariants presented in section 3 are given in the basis in which the Majorana mass term is diagonal (with real and positive entries), we will provide the connection between this basis and the one given by eq. (2.4) diagonalizing M_R .

First of all, notice that there is no CP violation in the symmetric limit $(y'_{\alpha} = \mu_1 = \mu_2 = 0)$ since in such a case all the phases in eq. (2.4) can be trivially reabsorbed with a rephasing of the N_i and L^{α} fields. If the symmetry is broken, in principle M_R is a complex symmetric matrix which contains three phases. Two of them can be easily removed performing N_i field redefinitions. However, a priori there is a non trivial phase contained in M_R in the

general case. It is easy to show that we can start from the following basis: 、

,

$$\tilde{Y} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{Y}_{e1} & \tilde{Y}_{e2} \\ \tilde{Y}_{\mu 1} & \tilde{Y}_{\mu 2} \\ \tilde{Y}_{\tau 1} & \tilde{Y}_{\tau 2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{M}_R = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mu}_1 e^{i\alpha_\mu} & \Lambda \\ \Lambda & \tilde{\mu}_2 e^{i\alpha_\mu} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.1)$$

where $\tilde{\mu}_1, \tilde{\mu}_2, \Lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $0 \leq \alpha_{\mu} \leq 2\pi$. Rotating to the basis in which \tilde{M}_R is real and diagonal and expanding over the small LNV parameters we find

$$Y = \tilde{Y}O, \operatorname{diag}(M_1, M_2) = O^{\mathrm{T}}\tilde{M}_{\mathrm{R}}O, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$O = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{(\tilde{\mu}_2 - \tilde{\mu}_1)e^{i\alpha_{\mu}}}{4\Lambda} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \operatorname{diag}(\operatorname{i} e^{-\operatorname{i}\alpha_1/2}, e^{-\operatorname{i}\alpha_2/2}), \quad (A.3)$$

where $\alpha_{2(1)} = \operatorname{Arg} \left\{ 1 \pm (\tilde{\mu}_1 + \tilde{\mu}_2) e^{i\alpha_{\mu}}/2\Lambda \right\}$ and $M_{2(1)} = \Lambda \pm (\tilde{\mu}_1 + \tilde{\mu}_2) \cos \alpha_{\mu}/2$. Here we are neglecting higher order terms in $\tilde{\mu}_i/\Lambda$ and $\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2}$. Finally, expanding also $e^{-i\alpha_i/2}$, we obtain

$$Y_{\alpha 1} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 1} - \tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2}^{new} \right) , \qquad (A.4)$$

$$Y_{\alpha 2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 1} + \tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2}^{new} \right) , \qquad (A.5)$$

$$\operatorname{diag}(M_1, M_2) = \operatorname{diag}(\Lambda - \mu_2, \Lambda + \mu_2), \qquad (A.6)$$

where we are neglecting the $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mu}^2/\Lambda^2)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2}\tilde{\mu}/\Lambda)$ higher order terms, and

$$\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2}^{new} \equiv \tilde{Y}_{\alpha 2} - \frac{(\tilde{\mu}_2 - \tilde{\mu}_1)e^{i\alpha_{\mu}}}{4\Lambda}\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 1} - \frac{\tilde{\mu}_1 + \tilde{\mu}_2}{4\Lambda}i\sin\alpha_{\mu}\tilde{Y}_{\alpha 1}, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\mu_2 \equiv (\tilde{\mu}_1 + \tilde{\mu}_2) \cos \alpha_{\mu}/2 = \Delta M/2.$$
(A.8)

Now, we can perform the following rotation of the N_i fields

$$O = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\mathbf{i}, 1), \qquad (A.9)$$

to go back to an initial basis in which there are no phases contained in the Majorana mass term and their diagonal matrix elements are equal:

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} y_e e^{i\beta_e} & y'_e e^{i\beta'_e} \\ y_\mu e^{i\beta_\mu} & y'_\mu e^{i\beta'_\mu} \\ y_\tau e^{i\beta_\tau} & y'_\tau e^{i\beta'_\tau} \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_R = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_2 & \Lambda \\ \Lambda & \mu_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.10)$$

where μ_2 and Λ are real and positive parameters. Diagonalizing M_R and rotating to the basis in which it is diagonal, we obtain in the N_i mass basis

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} y_e e^{i\beta_e} & y'_e e^{i\beta'_e} \\ y_\mu e^{i\beta_\mu} & y'_\mu e^{i\beta'_\mu} \\ y_\tau e^{i\beta_\tau} & y'_\tau e^{i\beta'_\tau} \end{pmatrix} W, \quad \text{diag}(M_1, M_2) = W^T M_R W,$$
(A.11)

with

$$W = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(i, 1), \qquad (A.12)$$

and

$$M_{2(1)} = \Lambda \pm \Delta M/2, \quad \Delta M = M_2 - M_1 = 2\mu_2.$$
 (A.13)

B Mapping to the Casas-Ibarra parameterization

The Casas-Ibarra parameterization [104] is a perturbative parameterization of the Yukawa couplings, based on the seesaw expansion, which implements the light neutrino mass and mixing constraints. Therefore, it should also be able to describe the symmetry protected scenario considered in this paper. Indeed, our results can be mapped to the Casas-Ibarra parameterization in the large HNL mixing regime explored here. In the Casas-Ibarra language, this limit corresponds to a large imaginary part of the complex angle z appearing in the Casas-Ibarra matrix R. There is some arbitrariness in the concrete definition of this matrix and we will, thus, follow the prescription given by eq. (2.5) in [33].

We have checked that we recover the expressions for the weak washout CP invariant, the neutrinoless double-beta decay heavy contribution and the HNL mixings obtained in [33], performing the following mapping between parameterizations:¹⁶

Normal Hierarchy.

$$\phi \to \phi + \pi/2, \quad \theta \to 2 \operatorname{Re}\left[z\right], \quad U^2 \approx \frac{y^2 v^2}{2M_1^2} \to \frac{e^{2\operatorname{Im}\left[z\right]} \sqrt{\Delta m_{\operatorname{atm}}^2}}{4M_1},$$
(B.1)

where z is the complex Casas-Ibarra angle.

Recall that the parameters y and y' can be related to the active heavy mixing U^2 and the neutrino masses as

$$yy' \approx \frac{M_1 + M_2}{4v^2} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2} \right), \quad y^2 \approx \frac{2M_1^2 U^2}{v^2},$$
 (B.2)

and, equivalently, y'/y (which in the large mixing limit corresponds to $e^{-2\text{Im}[z]}$) is given by

$$y'/y = \frac{M_1 + M_2}{8M_1^2 U^2} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2}\right).$$
 (B.3)

Inverted Hierarchy.

$$\phi = \phi - \pi/2, \quad \theta = 2 \operatorname{Re}[z], \quad U^2 \approx \frac{y^2 v^2}{2M_1^2} \to \frac{e^{2\operatorname{Im}[z]} \sqrt{\Delta m_{\operatorname{atm}}^2}}{2M_1}.$$
 (B.4)

Notice the minus sign in front of $\pi/2$, to be compared with the normal hierarchy case.

¹⁶The rephasing in the Majorana phase is required in order to recover positive light neutrino masses.

The parameters y and y' are related to the active heavy mixing U^2 and the neutrino masses as

$$yy' \approx \frac{M_1 + M_2}{4v^2} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\text{atm}}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\text{atm}}^2 - \Delta m_{\text{sol}}^2} \right), \quad y^2 \approx \frac{2M_1^2 U^2}{v^2}, \tag{B.5}$$

and

$$y'/y = \frac{M_1 + M_2}{8M_1^2 U^2} \left(\sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2} + \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 - \Delta m_{\rm sol}^2} \right) \,. \tag{B.6}$$

C Lepton number conserving limit

Analytical approximations of the baryon asymmetry found so far in the literature were obtained in the lepton number conserving limit ($\Gamma_M \rightarrow 0$), see for example [36, 59] and references therein. Our analytical estimates from eqs. (4.50) to (4.61) contain both, LNC and LNV contribution simultaneously. This appendix is devoted to the LNC limit of our found analytical expressions. Due to the clear separation of both contributions, as already expected on general grounds from the CP invariants of section 2.2, the LNC limit can be obtained trivially.

Closed form analytical expressions were only obtained in the fast oscillating regime $(\Gamma_{\rm osc}(T_{\rm osc}) \gg \Gamma(T_{\rm osc}))$ [59]. In this regime the asymmetry is generically *suppressed* by a factor of

$$\eta \simeq \frac{\gamma_1 \kappa}{2\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \kappa} \simeq 4 \,, \tag{C.1}$$

compared to the scenario with strong LNV rates, see eq. (4.58). Hence, the parameter space for successful explanation of the BAU expands to slightly larger mass splittings when including LNV rates. This clarifies the numerical enhancement of the asymmetry via LNV rates found previously in the literature, see e.g. ref. [39]. The reason is simply given by the competing weak modes and their different time evolution. The same conclusion also applies for the intermediate regime, see eq. (4.55), for which, however, no analytical approximation existed in the literature so far.

Within the overdamped regime ($\Gamma_{\rm osc}^{\rm slow}(T_{\rm EW}) \ll H_u(T_{\rm EW})$) semi-analytical expressions in the LNC limit were found in [36]. We find that the impact of LNV rates in this regime is more accentuated than in the fast oscillation and intermediate regime. This is because LNC and LNV contributions to the asymmetry not only differ dramatically in their time evolution, but also enter with opposite sign. When neglecting LNV plasma interactions the dynamics of the BAU generation is only coupled to one weak mode, i.e. the overdamped oscillation mode. This is because in the LNC scenario we have $\Gamma_M^{\rm slow} \to 0$ and hence the LNV weak mode decouples completely from the BAU generation. The asymmetry hence grows in the whole overdamped regime with x^2 , i.e.

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} \mu_{B/3-L_{\alpha}}\right)^{\text{ov-LNC}} \simeq \frac{\kappa x^2}{6\gamma_0 + \kappa\gamma_1} \frac{\gamma_0^2}{\gamma_0^2 + 4\omega^2} \frac{c_H M_P^*}{T_{EW}^3} \Delta_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{ov}} \,. \tag{C.2}$$

Expressing the CP invariant in terms of physical parameters, eq. (3.14) (eq. (3.19)) for NH (IH), and using the instantaneous sphaleron freeze-out approximation we can formulate



Figure 17. Result of the numerical scan for $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$ within the LNC limit shown in blue (red) for NH (IH). The black lines represent the analytical upper bound on the mixing of eq. (C.4). Color coding as in figure 1.



Figure 18. Numerical result of the Bayesian analysis (blue (red) points for NH (IH)) together with the analytical derived upper bound on the HNL mixing (black line). In dashed we show for comparison the corresponding analytical upper bound when LNV rates are included. The grey region is excluded by direct searches and the yellow one by big bang nucleosynthesis constraints.

the asymmetry as

$$(Y_B)_{\rm ov}^{\rm LNC} \simeq -2 \times 10^{-1} \frac{\Delta M}{M} \frac{1 \,{\rm GeV}}{M} \left(\frac{10^{-7}}{U^2}\right)^2 f_{\rm LNC}^{\rm H} \,.$$
 (C.3)

The angular function $f_{\text{LNC}}^{\text{H}}$ is defined in eq. (5.5) (eq. (5.4)) for NH (IH). Maximizing this function leads to an upper bound on the HNL mixing compatible with the BAU

$$\left(U^2\right)_{\rm ov}^{\rm LNC} \lesssim 6\,(15) \times 10^{-3} \sqrt{\frac{\Delta M}{M}} \sqrt{\frac{1\,{\rm GeV}}{M}} \quad {\rm NH}\,({\rm IH})\,.$$
 (C.4)

In figure 17 we compare this bound with a numerical analysis within the LNC limit for an exemplary mass splitting of $\Delta M/M = 10^{-10}$.

Having derived eq. (C.4) the general upper bound for variable HNL degeneracy is found by saturating the overdamped condition of eq. (5.1) which leads to

$$U^2 \lesssim 5\,(17) \times 10^{-7} \left(\frac{1\,\text{GeV}}{M}\right)^{4/3} \text{ NH (IH)}.$$
 (C.5)



Figure 19. Two-dimensional 1 and 2 σ posterior probability projections of the global numerical scan for NH, with priors given in table 3. The scan is performed separately for SHiP (red) and FCC (blue).

The numerical result of a bayesian analysis with variable $\Delta M/M$ within the LNC limit is shown in figure 18. The priors are the same as given in table 3. In dashed we show for comparison the upper bound on the mixing when LNV rates are included.

D Triangle plots

In addition to the U^2 vs. M projections shown in figure 12, here we show other twodimensional posterior probability projections of the global numerical scan for NH (IH) in figure 19 (figure 20).

In particular, we include the non trivial projections on $|U_{\alpha}|^2$, $\Delta M/M$, M and θ . We do not show the correlation with the PMNS CP-phases since there is no restriction on those



Figure 20. Same as in figure 19 but for IH.

phases when we consider the full prior range of $\Delta M/M$ as given in table 3. For the same reason, we do not include $m_{\beta\beta}$ since the preferred range does not differ from the standard active neutrino contribution.

The selection of $\theta < \pi$ in NH arises from the sign of the baryon asymmetry. At leading order the CP invariants of eqs. (3.14), (3.15) and (3.18) only depend on s_{θ} . Note that only for $M_1 \leq 1$ GeV this preference is relaxed. This can be understood due to the dominance of LNV interactions in the overdamped regime for larger values of M_1 , see eq. (5.3). For IH this preference disappears because the PMNS phases can always be adjusted to yield the correct sign of the baryon asymmetry.

We use the Monte Carlo analysis software GetDist [105] to extract the 1 and 2 σ posterior probabilities. We take the sensitivity reach of SHiP and FCC in our posterior probability

projections into account via higher order multiplicative bias corrections. Therefore, any interpretation of the posterior probabilities has to be done with respect to the constrained parameter space and has to be taken with care.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida, Baryogenesis without grand unification, Phys. Lett. B 174 (1986) 45 [INSPIRE].
- [2] P. Minkowski, $\mu \to e\gamma$ at a rate of one out of 10⁹ muon decays?, Phys. Lett. B **67** (1977) 421 [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond and R. Slansky, Complex spinors and unified theories, Conf. Proc. C 790927 (1979) 315 [arXiv:1306.4669] [INSPIRE].
- [4] T. Yanagida, Horizontal gauge symmetry and masses of neutrinos, Conf. Proc. C 7902131 (1979) 95 [INSPIRE].
- [5] R.N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanović, Neutrino mass and spontaneous parity nonconservation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44 (1980) 912 [INSPIRE].
- [6] P. Hernández, M. Kekic and J. Lopez-Pavon, N_{eff} in low-scale seesaw models versus the lightest neutrino mass, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065033 [arXiv:1406.2961] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Boyarsky, M. Ovchynnikov, O. Ruchayskiy and V. Syvolap, Improved big bang nucleosynthesis constraints on heavy neutral leptons, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 023517
 [arXiv:2008.00749] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Pilaftsis and T.E.J. Underwood, Resonant leptogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B 692 (2004) 303 [hep-ph/0309342] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Abada, S. Davidson, A. Ibarra, F.X. Josse-Michaux, M. Losada and A. Riotto, *Flavour matters in leptogenesis*, *JHEP* 09 (2006) 010 [hep-ph/0605281] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E.K. Akhmedov, V.A. Rubakov and A.Y. Smirnov, Baryogenesis via neutrino oscillations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1359 [hep-ph/9803255] [INSPIRE].
- [11] T. Asaka and M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM, dark matter and baryon asymmetry of the universe, Phys. Lett. B 620 (2005) 17 [hep-ph/0505013] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Klarić, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov, Uniting low-scale leptogenesis mechanisms, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 111802 [arXiv:2008.13771] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Klarić, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov, Reconciling resonant leptogenesis and baryogenesis via neutrino oscillations, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 055010
 [arXiv:2103.16545] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine, GeV-scale hot sterile neutrino oscillations: a derivation of evolution equations, JHEP 05 (2017) 132 [arXiv:1703.06087] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Weinberg, Baryon and lepton nonconserving processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 1566 [INSPIRE].

- [16] A. Broncano, M.B. Gavela and E.E. Jenkins, The effective Lagrangian for the seesaw model of neutrino mass and leptogenesis, Phys. Lett. B 552 (2003) 177 [Erratum ibid. 636 (2006) 332] [hep-ph/0210271] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Abada, C. Biggio, F. Bonnet, M.B. Gavela and T. Hambye, Low energy effects of neutrino masses, JHEP 12 (2007) 061 [arXiv:0707.4058] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Antusch, C. Biggio, E. Fernandez-Martinez, M.B. Gavela and J. Lopez-Pavon, Unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix, JHEP 10 (2006) 084 [hep-ph/0607020] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R.E. Shrock, General theory of weak leptonic and semileptonic decays. 1. Leptonic pseudoscalar meson decays, with associated tests for, and bounds on, neutrino masses and lepton mixing, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 1232 [INSPIRE].
- [20] R.E. Shrock, General theory of weak processes involving neutrinos. 2. Pure leptonic decays, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 1275 [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Langacker and D. London, Mixing between ordinary and exotic fermions, Phys. Rev. D 38 (1988) 886 [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Nardi, E. Roulet and D. Tommasini, Limits on neutrino mixing with new heavy particles, Phys. Lett. B 327 (1994) 319 [hep-ph/9402224] [INSPIRE].
- [23] D. Tommasini, G. Barenboim, J. Bernabeu and C. Jarlskog, Nondecoupling of heavy neutrinos and lepton flavor violation, Nucl. Phys. B 444 (1995) 451 [hep-ph/9503228] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Alonso, M. Dhen, M.B. Gavela and T. Hambye, Muon conversion to electron in nuclei in type-I seesaw models, JHEP 01 (2013) 118 [arXiv:1209.2679] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Antusch and O. Fischer, Non-unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix: present bounds and future sensitivities, JHEP 10 (2014) 094 [arXiv:1407.6607] [INSPIRE].
- [26] E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. Hernandez-Garcia and J. Lopez-Pavon, Global constraints on heavy neutrino mixing, JHEP 08 (2016) 033 [arXiv:1605.08774] [INSPIRE].
- [27] L. Canetti and M. Shaposhnikov, Baryon asymmetry of the universe in the νMSM, JCAP
 09 (2010) 001 [arXiv:1006.0133] [INSPIRE].
- [28] B. Shuve and I. Yavin, Baryogenesis through neutrino oscillations: a unified perspective, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 075014 [arXiv:1401.2459] [INSPIRE].
- [29] L. Canetti, M. Drewes and M. Shaposhnikov, Sterile neutrinos as the origin of dark and baryonic matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 061801 [arXiv:1204.3902] [INSPIRE].
- [30] L. Canetti, M. Drewes, T. Frossard and M. Shaposhnikov, Dark matter, baryogenesis and neutrino oscillations from right handed neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 093006 [arXiv:1208.4607] [INSPIRE].
- [31] P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, J. Racker and N. Rius, Leptogenesis in GeV scale seesaw models, JHEP 10 (2015) 067 [arXiv:1508.03676] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Abada, G. Arcadi, V. Domcke and M. Lucente, Lepton number violation as a key to low-scale leptogenesis, JCAP 11 (2015) 041 [arXiv:1507.06215] [INSPIRE].
- [33] P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, J. Racker and J. Salvado, Testable baryogenesis in seesaw models, JHEP 08 (2016) 157 [arXiv:1606.06719] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Hambye and D. Teresi, Higgs doublet decay as the origin of the baryon asymmetry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 091801 [arXiv:1606.00017] [INSPIRE].

- [35] M. Drewes, B. Garbrecht, D. Gueter and J. Klaric, Testing the low scale seesaw and leptogenesis, JHEP 08 (2017) 018 [arXiv:1609.09069] [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Drewes, B. Garbrecht, D. Gueter and J. Klaric, Leptogenesis from oscillations of heavy neutrinos with large mixing angles, JHEP 12 (2016) 150 [arXiv:1606.06690] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine, GeV-scale hot sterile neutrino oscillations: a numerical solution, JHEP 02 (2018) 078 [arXiv:1711.08469] [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Hambye and D. Teresi, Baryogenesis from L-violating Higgs-doublet decay in the density-matrix formalism, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 015031 [arXiv:1705.00016] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Antusch et al., Probing leptogenesis at future colliders, JHEP 09 (2018) 124
 [arXiv:1710.03744] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Eijima, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov, Parameter space of baryogenesis in the νMSM , JHEP 07 (2019) 077 [arXiv:1808.10833] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Abada, G. Arcadi, V. Domcke, M. Drewes, J. Klaric and M. Lucente, Low-scale leptogenesis with three heavy neutrinos, JHEP 01 (2019) 164 [arXiv:1810.12463]
 [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Davidson and A. Ibarra, A lower bound on the right-handed neutrino mass from leptogenesis, Phys. Lett. B 535 (2002) 25 [hep-ph/0202239] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Wyler and L. Wolfenstein, Massless neutrinos in left-right symmetric models, Nucl. Phys. B 218 (1983) 205 [INSPIRE].
- [44] R.N. Mohapatra, Mechanism for understanding small neutrino mass in superstring theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56 (1986) 561 [INSPIRE].
- [45] R.N. Mohapatra and J.W.F. Valle, Neutrino mass and baryon number nonconservation in superstring models, Phys. Rev. D 34 (1986) 1642 [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Bernabeu, A. Santamaria, J. Vidal, A. Mendez and J.W.F. Valle, Lepton flavor nonconservation at high-energies in a superstring inspired Standard Model, Phys. Lett. B 187 (1987) 303 [INSPIRE].
- [47] G.C. Branco, W. Grimus and L. Lavoura, The seesaw mechanism in the presence of a conserved lepton number, Nucl. Phys. B 312 (1989) 492 [INSPIRE].
- [48] E.K. Akhmedov, M. Lindner, E. Schnapka and J.W.F. Valle, Left-right symmetry breaking in NJL approach, Phys. Lett. B 368 (1996) 270 [hep-ph/9507275] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S.M. Barr, A different seesaw formula for neutrino masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 101601 [hep-ph/0309152] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Kersten and A.Y. Smirnov, Right-handed neutrinos at CERN LHC and the mechanism of neutrino mass generation, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 073005 [arXiv:0705.3221] [INSPIRE].
- [51] M.B. Gavela, T. Hambye, D. Hernandez and P. Hernández, Minimal flavour seesaw models, JHEP 09 (2009) 038 [arXiv:0906.1461] [INSPIRE].
- [52] V.A. Kuzmin, V.A. Rubakov and M.E. Shaposhnikov, On the anomalous electroweak baryon number nonconservation in the early universe, Phys. Lett. B 155 (1985) 36 [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. D'Onofrio, K. Rummukainen and A. Tranberg, Sphaleron rate in the minimal Standard Model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 141602 [arXiv:1404.3565] [INSPIRE].

- [54] FCC-EE STUDY TEAM collaboration, Search for heavy right handed neutrinos at the FCC-ee, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. 273-275 (2016) 1883 [arXiv:1411.5230] [INSPIRE].
- [55] FCC collaboration, FCC physics opportunities: Future Circular Collider conceptual design report volume 1, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 474 [INSPIRE].
- [56] FCC collaboration, FCC-ee: the lepton collider. Future Circular Collider conceptual design report volume 2, Eur. Phys. J. ST 228 (2019) 261 [INSPIRE].
- [57] SHIP collaboration, A facility to Search for Hidden Particles (SHiP) at the CERN SPS, arXiv:1504.04956 [INSPIRE].
- [58] SHIP collaboration, Sensitivity of the SHiP experiment to heavy neutral leptons, JHEP 04 (2019) 077 [arXiv:1811.00930] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Drewes et al., ARS leptogenesis, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 33 (2018) 1842002
 [arXiv:1711.02862] [INSPIRE].
- [60] C. Jarlskog, Commutator of the quark mass matrices in the standard electroweak model and a measure of maximal CP nonconservation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55 (1985) 1039 [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Jarlskog, A basis independent formulation of the connection between quark mass matrices, CP-violation and experiment, Z. Phys. C 29 (1985) 491 [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Bernabeu, G.C. Branco and M. Gronau, *CP restrictions on quark mass matrices*, *Phys. Lett. B* **169** (1986) 243 [INSPIRE].
- [63] G.C. Branco, T. Morozumi, B.M. Nobre and M.N. Rebelo, A bridge between CP-violation at low-energies and leptogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B 617 (2001) 475 [hep-ph/0107164] [INSPIRE].
- [64] E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Rephasing invariants of quark and lepton mixing matrices, Nucl. Phys. B 792 (2008) 187 [arXiv:0706.4313] [INSPIRE].
- [65] E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Algebraic structure of lepton and quark flavor invariants and CP-violation, JHEP 10 (2009) 094 [arXiv:0907.4763] [INSPIRE].
- [66] Y. Wang, B. Yu and S. Zhou, Flavor invariants and renormalization-group equations in the leptonic sector with massive Majorana neutrinos, JHEP 09 (2021) 053 [arXiv:2107.06274] [INSPIRE].
- [67] B. Yu and S. Zhou, Hilbert series for leptonic flavor invariants in the minimal seesaw model, JHEP 10 (2021) 017 [arXiv:2107.11928] [INSPIRE].
- [68] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of particle physics, PTEP 2020 (2020) 083C01 [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine, Precision study of GeV-scale resonant leptogenesis, JHEP 02 (2019) 014 [arXiv:1811.01971] [INSPIRE].
- [70] T. Asaka, S. Eijima and H. Ishida, Kinetic equations for baryogenesis via sterile neutrino oscillation, JCAP 02 (2012) 021 [arXiv:1112.5565] [INSPIRE].
- T. Asaka, S. Eijima, H. Ishida, K. Minogawa and T. Yoshii, *Initial condition for baryogenesis via neutrino oscillation*, *Phys. Rev. D* 96 (2017) 083010 [arXiv:1704.02692]
 [INSPIRE].
- [72] S. Eijima, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov, Freeze-out of baryon number in low-scale leptogenesis, JCAP 11 (2017) 030 [arXiv:1709.07834] [INSPIRE].

- [73] S.Y. Khlebnikov and M.E. Shaposhnikov, *Melting of the Higgs vacuum: conserved numbers at high temperature*, *Phys. Lett. B* **387** (1996) 817 [hep-ph/9607386] [INSPIRE].
- [74] Y. Burnier, M. Laine and M. Shaposhnikov, Baryon and lepton number violation rates across the electroweak crossover, JCAP 02 (2006) 007 [hep-ph/0511246] [INSPIRE].
- [75] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron.
 Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [76] P. Hernandez, J. Lopez-Pavon, N. Rius and S. Sandner, *PJNS/amiqs: amiqs v1.0*, Zenodo (2022).
- [77] J. Buchner, UltraNest a robust, general purpose bayesian inference engine, J. Open Source Softw. 6 (2021) 3001 [arXiv:2101.09604].
- [78] M. Drewes, Y. Georis, C. Hagedorn and J. Klarić, Low-scale leptogenesis with flavour and CP symmetries, arXiv:2203.08538 [INSPIRE].
- [79] A. Granelli, J. Klarić and S.T. Petcov, Tests of low-scale leptogenesis in charged lepton flavour violation experiments, arXiv:2206.04342 [INSPIRE].
- [80] A. Caputo, P. Hernández, J. Lopez-Pavon and J. Salvado, The seesaw portal in testable models of neutrino masses, JHEP 06 (2017) 112 [arXiv:1704.08721] [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Blennow, E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. Lopez-Pavon and J. Menendez, Neutrinoless double beta decay in seesaw models, JHEP 07 (2010) 096 [arXiv:1005.3240] [INSPIRE].
- [82] V. Cirigliano et al., New leading contribution to neutrinoless double-β decay, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 202001 [arXiv:1802.10097] [INSPIRE].
- [83] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, M. Hoferichter and E. Mereghetti, Toward complete leading-order predictions for neutrinoless double β decay, Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** (2021) 172002 [arXiv:2012.11602] [INSPIRE].
- [84] L. Jokiniemi, P. Soriano and J. Menéndez, Impact of the leading-order short-range nuclear matrix element on the neutrinoless double-beta decay of medium-mass and heavy nuclei, *Phys. Lett. B* 823 (2021) 136720 [arXiv:2107.13354] [INSPIRE].
- [85] W. Dekens, J. de Vries, K. Fuyuto, E. Mereghetti and G. Zhou, Sterile neutrinos and neutrinoless double beta decay in effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2020) 097 [arXiv:2002.07182] [INSPIRE].
- [86] X.-Y. Tuo, X. Feng and L.-C. Jin, Lattice QCD calculation of the light sterile neutrino contribution in 0ν2β decay, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 074510 [arXiv:2206.00879] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro and S.T. Petcov, Low energy signatures of the TeV scale see-saw mechanism, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 013005 [arXiv:1103.6217] [INSPIRE].
- [88] J. Lopez-Pavon, E. Molinaro and S.T. Petcov, Radiative corrections to light neutrino masses in low scale type I seesaw scenarios and neutrinoless double beta decay, JHEP 11 (2015) 030 [arXiv:1506.05296] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J. Lopez-Pavon, S. Pascoli and C.-F. Wong, Can heavy neutrinos dominate neutrinoless double beta decay?, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 093007 [arXiv:1209.5342] [INSPIRE].
- [90] I. Esteban, M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia, M. Maltoni, T. Schwetz and A. Zhou, The fate of hints: updated global analysis of three-flavor neutrino oscillations, JHEP 09 (2020) 178 [arXiv:2007.14792] [INSPIRE].

- [91] P.F. de Salas et al., 2020 global reassessment of the neutrino oscillation picture, JHEP 02 (2021) 071 [arXiv:2006.11237] [INSPIRE].
- [92] F. Feruglio, A. Strumia and F. Vissani, Neutrino oscillations and signals in β and 0ν2β experiments, Nucl. Phys. B 637 (2002) 345 [Addendum ibid. 659 (2003) 359]
 [hep-ph/0201291] [INSPIRE].
- [93] D. Boyanovsky, Nearly degenerate heavy sterile neutrinos in cascade decay: mixing and oscillations, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 105024 [arXiv:1409.4265] [INSPIRE].
- [94] G. Cvetič, C.S. Kim, R. Kogerler and J. Zamora-Saa, Oscillation of heavy sterile neutrino in decay of $B \to \mu e \pi$, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 013015 [arXiv:1505.04749] [INSPIRE].
- [95] G. Anamiati, M. Hirsch and E. Nardi, Quasi-Dirac neutrinos at the LHC, JHEP 10 (2016) 010 [arXiv:1607.05641] [INSPIRE].
- [96] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato and O. Fischer, Resolvable heavy neutrino-antineutrino oscillations at colliders, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 34 (2019) 1950061 [arXiv:1709.03797] [INSPIRE].
- [97] G. Cvetič, A. Das and J. Zamora-Saá, Probing heavy neutrino oscillations in rare W boson decays, J. Phys. G 46 (2019) 075002 [arXiv:1805.00070] [INSPIRE].
- [98] J.-L. Tastet and I. Timiryasov, Dirac vs. Majorana HNLs (and their oscillations) at SHiP, JHEP 04 (2020) 005 [arXiv:1912.05520] [INSPIRE].
- [99] C.O. Dib, C.S. Kim, K. Wang and J. Zhang, Distinguishing Dirac/Majorana sterile neutrinos at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 013005 [arXiv:1605.01123] [INSPIRE].
- [100] C. Arbelaéz, C. Dib, I. Schmidt and J.C. Vasquez, Probing the Dirac or Majorana nature of the heavy neutrinos in pure leptonic decays at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 055011 [arXiv:1712.08704] [INSPIRE].
- [101] A.B. Balantekin, A. de Gouvêa and B. Kayser, Addressing the Majorana vs. Dirac question with neutrino decays, Phys. Lett. B 789 (2019) 488 [arXiv:1808.10518] [INSPIRE].
- [102] P. Hernández, J. Jones-Pérez and O. Suarez-Navarro, Majorana vs. pseudo-Dirac neutrinos at the ILC, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 220 [arXiv:1810.07210] [INSPIRE].
- [103] T. Asaka, S. Blanchet and M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM, dark matter and neutrino masses, Phys. Lett. B 631 (2005) 151 [hep-ph/0503065] [INSPIRE].
- [104] J.A. Casas and A. Ibarra, Oscillating neutrinos and $\mu \rightarrow e, \gamma$, Nucl. Phys. B **618** (2001) 171 [hep-ph/0103065] [INSPIRE].
- [105] A. Lewis, GetDist: a Python package for analysing Monte Carlo samples, arXiv:1910.13970 [INSPIRE].